Biochemical and Biophysical Research Communications 453 (2014) 254–267

Contents lists available at ScienceDirect



Biochemical and Biophysical Research Communications

journal homepage: www.elsevier.com/locate/ybbrc

Review

Bacterial multidrug efflux pumps: Mechanisms, physiology and pharmacological exploitations



CrossMark

acological exploitations

Jingjing Sun¹, Ziqing Deng¹, Aixin Yan^{*}

School of Biological Sciences, The University of Hong Kong, Pokfulam Road, Hong Kong Special Administrative Region

ARTICLE INFO

Article history: Received 2 May 2014 Available online 27 May 2014

Keywords: Antibiotics Multidrug resistance Multidrug efflux pumps Regulation Physiology Efflux pump inhibitors

ABSTRACT

Multidrug resistance (MDR) refers to the capability of bacterial pathogens to withstand lethal doses of structurally diverse drugs which are capable of eradicating non-resistant strains. MDR has been identified as a major threat to the public health of human being by the World Health Organization (WHO). Among the four general mechanisms that cause antibiotic resistance including target alteration, drug inactivation, decreased permeability and increased efflux, drug extrusion by the multidrug efflux pumps serves as an important mechanism of MDR. Efflux pumps not only can expel a broad range of antibiotics owing to their poly-substrate specificity, but also drive the acquisition of additional resistance mechanisms by lowering intracellular antibiotic concentration and promoting mutation accumulation. Over-expression of multidrug efflux pumps have been increasingly found to be associated with clinically relevant drug resistance. On the other hand, accumulating evidence has suggested that efflux pumps also have physiological functions in bacteria and their expression is subject tight regulation in response to various of environmental and physiological signals. A comprehensive understanding of the mechanisms of drug extrusion, and regulation and physiological functions of efflux pumps is essential for the development of anti-resistance interventions. In this review, we summarize the development of these research areas in the recent decades and present the pharmacological exploitation of efflux pump inhibitors as a promising anti-drug resistance intervention.

© 2014 The Authors. Published by Elsevier Inc. This is an open access article under the CC BY-NC-SA license (http://creativecommons.org/licenses/by-nc-sa/3.0/).

Contents

1.	Introduction: drug efflux transporters and their clinical relevance				
2.	2. Mechanisms of drug extrusion by the efflux pumps				
	2.1.	Structures of RND efflux pumps	255		
	2.2.	Structures of MFS and SMR efflux pumps	257		
	2.3.	Structures of efflux gene regulators	258		
	2.4.	Structures of Gram-positive bacterial efflux gene regulators	259		
3. Physiological roles of MDR efflux pumps			259		
	3.1.	Roles in bacterial pathogenicity and virulence	259		
	3.2.	Roles in cell-to-cell communication	259		

* Corresponding author. Fax: +852 25599114.

E-mail address: ayan8@hku.hk (A. Yan).

¹ These authors contribute equally.

http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.bbrc.2014.05.090

0006-291X/© 2014 The Authors. Published by Elsevier Inc. This is an open access article under the CC BY-NC-SA license (http://creativecommons.org/licenses/by-nc-sa/3.0/).

Abbreviations: 3OC₆-HSL, 3-oxohexanoyl homoserine lactone; 3OC₁₂-HSL, N-(3-oxododecanoyl)-1-homoserine lactone; ABC, the ATP (adenosine triphosphate)-binding cassette superfamily; ABI-PP, AcrAB/MexAB-specific inhibitor of pyridopyrimidine derivative; AHL, *N*-acylhomoserine lactone; BRC, BmrR C terminus; C₄-HSL, N-butyryl homoserine lactone; CCCP, carbonylcyanide-3-chlorophenylhydrazone; CTD, C-terminal domain; DARPin, designed ankyrin repeat protein; DBD, DNA binding domain; DDM, n-dodecyl-n-maltoside; DMT, drug/metabolite transporter superfamily; DNP, 2,4-dinitrophenol; EPI, efflux pump inhibitor; Eb, ethidium bromide; EMSA, electrophoretic mobility shift assay; Et, ethidium; MATE, the multidrug and toxic compound extrusion family; MDCK, Madin–Darby canine kidney; MDR, multidrug resistance; MFS, the major facilitator superfamily; MIC, minimum inhibitory concentration; NMP, naphthylpiperazines; NP, nature product; Pf, proflavin; PAβN, phenyl-arginine beta-naphthylamide; PQS, 2-heptyl-3-hydroxy-4-quinolone; QS, quorum sensing; RND, the resistance-nodulation-division family; SMR, the small multidrug resistance family; TCS, two component system; TPP, tetraphenylphosphonium.

	3.3. Roles in biofilm formation	260
4.	Regulatory network of efflux pumps	261
	4.1. Regulation by local repressors	261
	4.2. Regulation by global response regulators	261
	4.3. Regulation by two component systems	263
5.	Efflux pump inhibitors	263
	References	264

1. Introduction: drug efflux transporters and their clinical relevance

Efflux pumps are found in almost all bacterial species and genes encoding this class of proteins can be located on chromosomes or plasmids [1,2]. According to their composition, number of transmembrane spanning regions, energy sources and substrates, bacterial efflux pumps are classified into five families: the resistance-nodulation-division (RND) family, the major facilitator superfamily (MFS), the ATP (adenosine triphosphate)-binding cassette (ABC) superfamily, the small multidrug resistance (SMR) family [a member of the much larger drug/metabolite transporter (DMT) superfamily], and the multidrug and toxic compound extrusion (MATE) family [1–3]. Except for the RND superfamily which is only found in Gram-negative bacteria, efflux systems of the other four families: MFS, ABC, SMR and MATE are widely distributed in both Gram-positive and negative bacteria [4]. Depending on the specific classes they belong to, efflux pumps are either single-component transporters or multiple-component systems containing not only an inner membrane transporter, but also an outer membrane channel and a periplasmic adaptor protein, such as the RND type efflux pumps [5]. Owing to their tripartite composition which allows direct extrusion of various drugs from cytosol or periplasmic space to the outside of bacterial cells, RND family pumps have been found to be associated extensively with clinically significant antibiotic resistance, such as AcrB in Escherichia coli and Salmonella typhimurium and MexB in Pseudomonas aeruginosa. In Gram-positive bacteria, the clinically significant efflux pumps are members of the MFS family, for example NorA in Staphylococcus aureus and PmrA in Streptococcus pneumoniae [6].

In recent decades, with the development of various molecular approaches [5], such as reverse transcription quantitative PCR (RT-qPCR) and immunoblotting, association of efflux pump overexpression with clinically relevant levels of MDR has been increasingly reported [7]. For instance, a recent screening of 50 clinical E. coli strains isolated from human clinical samples and dog feces in Sapporo, Japan, revealed a strong correlation of overexpression of the AcrAB efflux pumps with the high-level fluoroquinolone resistance in all 20 multi-resistant strains [8]. In another screening of 52 Klebsiella pneumoniae strains isolated from burn patients hospitalized in Shahid Motahari Hospital, Tehran, all 40 isolates which displayed resistance to ciprofloxacin, tetracycline, ceftazidime and gentamicin were found to express high levels of the AcrAB efflux pump particularly in ciprofloxacin resistant strains [9]. In addition, clinical resistance caused by overexpression of more than one efflux pumps was also identified. For instance, simultaneous overexpression of the MexAB-OprM and MexXY efflux systems was demonstrated to account for the multi-resistance phenotype of a collection of 12 P. aeruginosa clinical isolates identified in a hospital in France [10]. A clinical isolate of Stenotrophomonas maltophilia strain with high minimum inhibitory concentration (MIC) of several antibiotics was found to coordinately hyper-express the RND family efflux pumps SmeZ and SmeJK [11]. In addition to those encoded on the chromosomes of bacteria, plasmid-encoded efflux pumps, such as OqxAB, which confer resistance to

olaquindox, was also found to cause drug resistance in *E. coli* clinical isolates [12]. Association of efflux pump overexpression with clinically relevant MDR in Gram-positive bacteria was also reported. Among several hundred clinical isolates of *S. aureus* studied by Christos Kosmidis et al. it was found that strains overexpressing efflux pump genes were common and were widely distributed geographically. These strains were mainly resistant to methicillin and the resistance was clonally related with *norA* and *mepA* overexpression [13].

2. Mechanisms of drug extrusion by the efflux pumps

Efflux pumps are prominent in terms of both their high efficiency of drug extrusion and broad substrate specificities, underlying their roles in multidrug resistance. Substrate profile of the E. coli housekeeping efflux system AcrAB-TolC has been studied and it was shown to include chloramphenicol, fluoroquinolone, tetracycline, novobiocin, rifampin, fusidic acid, nalidixic acid and βlactam antibiotics [2]. Similar to that in E. coli, the AcrAB-TolC efflux system in S. typhimurium was also found to be able to expel different classes of antimicrobial agents such as guinolones, chloramphenicol, tetracycline and nalidixic acid [1,14]. In P. aeruginosa, two RND efflux pumps, MexAB-OprM which is the homolog of the E. coli AcrAB-TolC system and MexXY-OprM. are constitutively expressed and both of the systems can actively export fluoroquinolones, tetracycline and chloramphenicol. In addition to these common substrates, MexAB-OprM system can also export novobiocin and β-lactams, such as carbenicilline, and MexXY system can also export aminoglycosides [15]. Substrate profiles of other clinically relevant pathogens are reviewed elsewhere [6,14].

2.1. Structures of RND efflux pumps

Owing to their prominent roles in MDR, various of biophysical and biochemical characterization of bacterial efflux pumps, especially the E. coli AcrAB-TolC system, have been conducted [16–21]. In recent decade, elucidation of crystal structures of several drug efflux pumps and those complexed with the substrates or inhibitors has greatly accelerated our understanding of the fundamental mechanism of drug export and the characteristics of their multisubstrate specificities. The first crystal structure of drug efflux pump was that of the E. coli AcrB protein which was resolved at 3.5 Å resolution by Murakami et al. [22]. The crystal was grown in the trigonal space group R32, implying a symmetric AcrB trimer. The trimeric complex is comprised by a large portion of the periplasmic headpiece and a transmembrane region. The upper part of the headpiece forms the TolC docking domain and the center of the headpiece comprises the pore domain. Crystal structure of AcrB with its substrate, minocycline or doxorubicin [23] was resolved subsequently by the same research group. Findings from this co-crystal showed that only one of the three protomers bound with the substrate minocycline or doxorubicin (Fig. 1A). This, combined with the asymmetric structure of AcrB revealed by the X-ray crystal structure obtained independently by other two groups [24,25], led to the proposal of the asymmetric configuration of AcrB



Fig. 1. Structure of AcrB and the functional rotation mechanism of the drug extrusion by the RND efflux system AcrAB-TolC. The three protomers are colored as green, blue and red, respectively. (A) Top view of a ribbon representation with a drug (yellow and red) in the binding protomer. (B) Top view from the distal side of the cell. Drugs are illustrated as hexagons. Red lines represent the entrance and exit sites of each protomer. The drug binding pocket and translocation pathway are in dotted lines. (C) Side view of the AcrAB-TolC efflux system parallel to the membrane plane. Drugs are illustrated as hexagons. Red lines represent the entrance and exit sites of each protomer. The route of substrate access, binding, and extrusion is shown. Figure is adopted and modified based on that by Marakarm et al. [23].

trimer both in vitro and in vivo and a working mechanism of functional rotation in which the three protomers display different conformation. The protomer bound with the substrate in the crystal structure is indicated as the binding protomer which exists as the tight (T) conformation. The substrate binding pocket in this protomer is located in the porter domain, which is consisted of four subdomains, PN1, PN2, PC1 and PC2 (Fig. 1A). Examination of the substrate binding pocket revealed that it is enriched with aromatic amino-acid residues: Phe 136, Phe 178 (PN2), Phe 610, Phe 615, Phe 617, and Phe 628 (PC1), which are proposed to interact with the substrate by hydrophobic or aromatic-aromatic interactions [23]. Both minocycline and doxorubicin interact with Phe 615. In addition, minocycline also interacts with Phe 178 and Asn 274, and doxorubicin also interacts with Gln 176 and Phe 617 [23]. It is suggested that these may provide an explanation on the wide spectrum of substrate specificities of AcrB since different residues are used for binding of different substrates. The second protomer is designated as the extrusion protomer which exists as the open (O) conformation, because it represents the configuration after substrates extrusion. In this protomer, the pore-forming helix of PN1 is inclined and blocks the potential exit from the substrate binding pocket (Fig. 1A red). The third protomer is defined as the access protomer which exists as the loose (L) conformation, because it possesses a vacant binding site, waiting for the binding of the second substrate. Based on these information, the three-step functional rotation mechanism of drug export was proposed [23]. In the first step or the access (or loose, L) state (Fig. 1B and C), a "vestibule" near the entrance is open to the periplasm and allows potential substrates to access [23]. In the binding (or tight, T) state, the binding pocket expands to accommodate the substrate. Hence, drugs enter into the vestibule from the surface of the cytoplasmic membrane, move through the uptake channel, and bind to the different sites in the binding pocket. At this stage, the exit from the binding site is blocked by the central helix inclined from the extrusion protomer. In the extrusion (or open, O) state, the exit is opened because the central helix is inclined away, while the vestibule is closed [23]. The bound drug is pushed out into the top funnel by shrinking of the binding pocket. These changes were expected to be coupled to proton translocation across the membrane. The protonation and deprotonation of charged amino acid residues within the transmembrane domains would affect the accessibility or influence the binding or extrusion of the substrates. This functional rotating mechanism was further confirmed by the study of Takatsuka et al. using covalently linked AcrB trimer which showed that inactivation of one of the three protomers led to dysfunction of the entire trimer, an essential feature of the functional rotating mechanism [26].

Building upon the discovery of multiple phenylalanine residues in the substrate binding pocket of AcrB, Bohnert et al. [27] conducted site-directed Phe mutations to study the role of hydrophobic residues in AcrB. Their results showed that mutation of F610A caused significant decrease of the substrate MICs of oxacillin, doxorubicin, novobiocin and clindamycin suggesting that the F610 residue has a special role in the substrate extrusion process. However, the molecular details of the recognition and transportation of other substrates by AcrB were still unclear, since only minocycline and doxorubicin have been co-crystallized within the binding pocket. To better understand the recognition mechanism of other compounds, computer docking to predict the binding of 30 compounds with the binding pocket of the binding protomer was conducted [28]. Both computer docking and experimental results confirmed that minocycline binds to the upper portion of the binding



Fig. 2. Comparison of MexB and AcrB structures based on their transmembrane helices. Three subunits of MexB and AcrB are individually represented in the same orientation. The right panel shows the structural differences in the pore domain. The lower panel shows the side-chain conformation in the putative proton translocation site. Figure is adopted from Sennhauser et al. [32].

pocket, which is called "groove binding". Such compounds also include tetracycline, chlortetracycline, doxycycline, novobiocin, erythromycin, nafcillin, rifampin, doxorubicin and levofloxacin. Whereas some other ligands bind to the lower part of the pocket, including chloramphenicol, carbenicillin, and cefamandole, which is called "cave binding." In addition, some compounds seem to use both subdomains, such as cephalothin, cephaloridine, oxacillin, linezolid, and ciprofloxacin. This successive process of binding and transport was further demonstrated by the high resolution structures of AcrB/ankyrin-repeat protein (DARPin, a crystallization chaperone) complexes with bound minocycline or doxorubicin [29].

The opportunistic pathogen P. aeruginosa encodes several multidrug efflux pump genes [30]. The MexAB–OprM tripartite system was the first to be identified and was the best characterized in the bacterium [31,32]. The multidrug exporter MexB belongs to the RND family and its constitutive expression confers intrinsic resistance of P. aeruginosa to a broad spectrum of antimicrobial agents. MexB is closely related to E. coli AcrB. Crystal structures of the tripartite efflux pump components MexA, MexB and OprM have also been reported [30,33,34]. Comparison of the structures of MexB and E. coli AcrB showed that the structural similarity between the two proteins is obvious (Fig. 2). Specially, the transmembrane domain of MexB and AcrB was examined because it was likely to be similar in all RND family transporters. Similar to that of AcrB, the structure of the docking domain of MexB is consisted of two subdomains, and one of them forms a long loop that inserts into the docking domain of the neighboring subunit. This may well explain the finding that outer membrane channels and RND efflux pumps interact transiently in a rather low affinity [18]. Moreover, this observation also led to the assumption that the high specificities between MexB and OprM, and AcrB and TolC mostly relies on the associated membrane fusion protein MexA or AcrA [17]. Since crystals of MexB were grown in nonionic detergent n-dodecyl-p-maltoside (DDM), the positive electron density observed in the crystal was interpreted to be part of a DDM



Fig. 3. A potential mechanism for hydrophobic substrate transport by EmrD. (A) Two ways (path 1 and 2) that drug can enter the internal cavity of the transporter. (B) Drug transported through a rocker-switch alternating-access model. (C) Drug transported across the lipid bilayer. Figure is revised from Yin et al. [35].

molecule that co-crystallized with MexB. Residues interacting with this substrate include Val47, Ser48 and Gln125 of PN1; Val177, Ser180 and Gly179 of PN2; and Arg620 and Gln273 of PC1. The binding site of the DDM to MexB corresponds to the previously reported minocycline and doxorubicin binding sites in AcrB [27]. The fact that all three substrates bind to the binding cavity of the pore domain suggests that the nature of this binding cavity is conserved. Till now, no high-quality co-crystals of MexB with minocycline or a tightly bound DDM molecule was obtained like AcrB, though the substrate specificity of MexB resembles that of AcrB.

2.2. Structures of MFS and SMR efflux pumps

In addition to the RND efflux pumps which have attracted intensive research interests owing to their significant roles in clinically relevant drug resistance, contribution of other types of efflux pumps to drug resistance has also been reported and 3D crystal structures of several of these pumps have also been resolved. The crystal structure of a multidrug transporter belonging to the MFS family, EmrD, of *E. coli* has been reported [35]. Its structural arrangement may reflect a general architecture of MFS transporters, where twelve transmembrane helices form a compact structure with four of the transmembrane helices (H3, H6, H9, and H12) facing away from the interior, and the remaining transmembrane helices forming the internal cavity. Consistent with its function of transporting lipophilic compounds, the internal cavity of EmrD comprises mostly hydrophobic residues. Several of these residues are also conserved in other MFS transporters. This type of hydrophobic core has been previously proposed and also observed in the structure of EmrE, a small multidrug efflux transporter [36,37]. The mechanism of hydrophobic substrate transport by EmrD is proposed (Fig. 3). In this proposed mechanism, the drug can access the cavity either through the cytoplasm or through the inner membrane leaflet, and substrate is transported through a rocker-switch alternating-access model [35].

E. coli EmrE belongs to the small multidrug resistance family (SMR) of the drug transporters. Its X-ray structure shows that it functions as an inverted homodimer [38]. The asymmetric unit contains eight EmrE monomers each composed of four transmembrane helices. The first three helices form a bundle against the other equivalent helices of EmrE molecule, and the fourth helix of each monomer interacts with each other and projects laterally from the main body of the dimer. However, this conformation is not in accordance with biochemical data. One possible reason is that EmrE might be denatured since it was crystallized at pH 4 [38].

2.3. Structures of efflux gene regulators

Since overexpression of efflux pumps causes clinically significant drug resistance, how the over-expression of efflux gene is induced constitutes an important subject in drug resistance studies (see the contents in the section of "regulatory networks of efflux pumps" below). Piddock et al. categorized the mechanisms that lead to increased expression of efflux pumps found in clinical isolates into four groups: (i) mutations in the local repressor gene. (ii) mutations in a global regulatory gene. (iii) mutations in the promoter region of the transporter gene, and (iv) insertion elements upstream of the transporter gene. 3D structures of efflux gene regulators especially those bound with the inducers not only provided structural basis on how the activity of these regulators are mediated by structurally dissimilar antimicrobial agents to regulate efflux gene expression, but also provided insights into the development of novel antimicrobial agents that interfere the induction of efflux pump genes.

The expression of *E. coli acrB* efflux gene is controlled by the local transcriptional repressor AcrR, which can be inactivated by a variety of structurally unrelated antimicrobial agents [39]. Crystal structure of AcrR has been reported and it was revealed that AcrR is constituted largely of α -helices and functions as a dimer [39]. Each subunit of AcrR in the dimer contains nine α -helices which are divided into two domains, the N-terminal domain $(\alpha 1 - \alpha 3)$ and the C-terminal domain $(\alpha 4 - \alpha 9)$. In the homologs regulators TetR, QacR and CmeR, the C-terminal domains are ligand-binding domains [40-42]. However, the C-terminal α -helical bundle of AcrR forms an internal cavity, which overlaps with the substrate binding pocket of QacR, thus, it has been predicted to be a drug-binding pocket. Uniquely, the ligand-binding pocket of AcrR possesses three openings, one is located at the dimer interface and the other two are located at the front and side surfaces of the monomer. There are 14 residues in the inner wall of the ligand-binding pocket, and most of these residues are hydrophobic in nature [39]. The inner surface of the pocket displays a negative potential owing to the presence of an acidic residue E67. This suggests that AcrR mainly binds neutral and positively



Fig. 4. Crystal structure of MexZ. Shown is the ribbon diagram of MexZ dimer. In each monomer, the N-terminal is shown as blue and the C-terminal is shown as red. Figure is adopted from Alguel et al. [44].

charged ligands, which is consistent with the fact that most of the AcrR ligands are indeed positively charged [39].

The transcription regulator MexR is the primary repressor of the MexAB-OprM efflux system in P. aeruginosa which belongs to the MarR transcription regulator superfamily [43]. The crystal structure of MexR has been resolved. It showed that MexR is mainly consisted of α -helices and forms a triangular dimer which contains two DNA binding domains. Each of the domains is connected via two long helices to the dimerization domain made up of the N- and C-terminal regions from the two monomers [43]. The dimer exhibits a conformation in which the C-terminal tail of a monomer inserts into the DNA binding domains of the neighboring monomer. In the absence of an effector or effector-like ligand, the positively charged side chains repulse each other to maintain the crevice between the DNA binding domains, allowing the DNA binding conformation of the MexR dimer. Consequently, it was proposed that the MexR acts through an effector-induced conformational change which reduces the spacing of DNA binding domains and prevent its binding of DNA [43].

The TetR family transcription regulator MexZ is the negative regulator of mexXY efflux gene in P. aeruginosa. Its repression is relieved in the presence of inducing antibiotics [44]. The clinical importance of MexZ has been strikingly highlighted [45], because mexZ was found to be the most frequently mutated gene in clinical isolates of P. aeruginosa from cystic fibrosis patients lungs. However, unlike many other TetR family transcription regulators, such as TetR, QacR, and TtgR, which activity is modulated by the same substrates as the efflux pumps they control, MexZ does not bind those substrates directly and its activity is regulated by an antirepressor PA5471/ArmZ [46]. X-ray structure of MexZ is similar to that of a typical TetR family protein and the overall structure of MexZ is composed of nine α helices (Fig. 4). Among them, α 1- α 3 forms the DNA binding domain with α 3 being the DNA recognition helix. The rest α helices form the C-terminal domain (CTD). Within the CTD, α 5, α 8, and α 9 and the C terminal half of α 7 form a helical bundle with hydrophobic residues at the core. MexZ exists as a dimer in solution, and the dimer has excessively widely separated DBD domains with the average distance between the two recognition helices as 60 Å, significantly larger than the distance between the major grooves of B-DNA (34 Å). This suggested that the X-ray crystal structure of MexZ represented that of the activated form of MexZ that is released from the DNA. Analysis of MexZ mutations isolated from clinical strains showed that some mutations are located in the DNA recognition helix of the protein which may affect the DNA binding ability of MexZ through perturbing its interactions with the *mexXY* promoter DNA.

2.4. Structures of Gram-positive bacterial efflux gene regulators

Transcription regulators of clinically important Gram-positive bacteria, such as S. aureus and Bacillus subtilis have also been reported [41,47,48]. BmrR is a transcription regulator of the multidrug transporter Bmr in B. subtilis. BmrR activates the transcription of bmr in response to lipophilic cationic drugs. X-ray crystal structure of BmrR complexed with the inducing drug tetraphenylphosphonium (TPP) and the promoter DNA of bmr, BmrR-TPP-bmr promoter, has been resolved [47]. The BmrR monomer contains three domains: the N-terminal DNA-binding domain, the linker that connects the N- and C-terminal domains, and the C-terminal drug binding domain (or BRC). The most striking feature of the complex is that of the *bmr* promoter DNA. It was shown that the base pair between the forward and lag strands in the promoter region was broken because of the BmrR-TPP complex, which led the unpaired adenine and thymine to slide towards the 3' direction [47]. As a result, the nearby adenine and thymine also undergoes displacement but still forms a distorted Watson-Crick base pair. These evidence reveals a three step mechanism for transcription activation, that is, localized base-pair breaking, base sliding, and realignment. This pattern is different from that of many DNAbinding proteins which bend and kink their operators.

Another well studied regulator of Gram-positive bacteria efflux genes is OacR. OacR is the transcription repressor of the gene encoding the multidrug transporter QacA. QacR binds to the IR1 operator site of *qacA* efflux pump gene in the absence of inducing drugs and represses qacA expression. QacR can bind to various structurally dissimilar compounds that are the substrates of QacA efflux transporter, such as rhodamine 6G, ethidium and crystal violet [49]. Structure of QacR bound simultaneously with two or more different drugs such as ethidium (Et) and proflavin (Pf) has been resolved, and it reveals the regulatory mechanism of QacR in response to structurally different compounds. Surprisingly, it was demonstrated that no additional global structural changes were caused by dual drug binding to QacR [48], and the volume of the multidrug-binding pocket of the QacR-Pf-Et ternary complex did not need to expand to accommodate both drugs. An interesting observation is that while the Pf binding site remains identical in the QacR-Pf-Et ternary structure in comparison with that in the binary complex of QacR-Pf, the Et molecule in the ternary structure has shifted considerably in the pocket compared to its location in the QacR-Et binary structure. Based on this, an uncompetitive binding mode was proposed because the exact Et-binding site found in the ternary complex was not occupied in the absence of Pf.

3. Physiological roles of MDR efflux pumps

The fact that all bacterial genomics contain efflux pump genes and their expression is subject to tight regulation by various of local and global transcriptional regulators has led to the proposal that drug efflux pumps have physiological functions, especially during the stress adaptation, development, and pathogenesis and virulence of bacteria. There has been accumulating evidence demonstrating that drug efflux pumps indeed play a general role of detoxification in various of bacterial physiological processes. Exploring the regulation of efflux pump genes as well as their specific physiological functions will advance our understanding of the naturally or physiologically originated drug resistance which occurs frequently in nature.

3.1. Roles in bacterial pathogenicity and virulence

Following the recognition that the house-keeping efflux pump AcrAB-TolC serves as an important antibiotic resistance determinant and plays a major role in the MDR phenotype of E. coli clinical isolates [50,51], it was soon reported that the efflux system can also pump toxic bile salts out of the cells and consequently promote the adaptation of the bacterium in the animal intestinal tract [52]. Subsequently, similar roles of AcrAB homologs in various other species, such as *P. aeruginosa* [31,53], *Neisseria gonorrhoeae* [54] and *S.* typhimurium [55] were also reported. These observations led to the proposal that bacterial efflux pumps have the capacity to extrude various host-derived antimicrobial compounds and facilitate the adaptation and survival of bacteria in their ecological and physiological niches. Indeed, this notion is supported by increasing evidence demonstrating that efflux pump defective mutations caused reduced virulence of several pathogens. Buckley et al. studied the role of efflux pumps on virulence of S. typhimurium using efflux pump defect mutants in a chicken model, and found that mutants deficient in either acrB or tolC genes colonized poorly and did not persist in the avian gut, indicating that AcrAB-TolC system is essential for the colonization of S. typhimurium in chickens [56]. Utilizing similar approaches Nishino et al. showed that S. typhimurium lacking the macAB efflux pump genes displayed significantly attenuated virulence in a mouse model and a strain lacking all drug efflux systems became completely avirulent [57]. In N. gonorrhoeae, a bacterial pathogen of the human genital mucosae, deletion of *mtrD* or *mtrE* gene which product constitutes the MtrCDE efflux system caused poor colonization of the bacteria in genito-urinary tract of female mice [58]. More recently, studies have shown that Δ acrB in K. pneumoniae and Δ acrA or Δ tolC in Enterobacter cloacae led to a reduced capability of the pathogens to cause infection in a mouse model, indicating that AcrAB-TolC is essential for the virulence of *K. pneumoniae* and *E. cloacae* [59,60]. In addition to causing defect in animal models, in plant pathogen an acrB-deficient Erwinia amylovora was reported to have impaired virulence on apple rootstock and fail to colonize its host plant [61]. Similarly, deletion of either acrA or dinF pump gene in Ralstonia solanacearum caused reduced virulence on the tomato plant, while complementary expression of these two genes in plasmid restored its virulence to nearly wild type level [62].

In addition to their roles in host-pathogen interaction, multidrug efflux pumps may also play a direct role in bacterial pathogenesis. Hirakata et al. [63] examined the contribution of the four best-studied P. aeruginosa multidrug efflux pumps (MexAB–OprM, MexCD–OprJ, MexEF–OprM and MexXY–OprM) to the virulence of the bacterium by testing the ability of efflux pump mutants to invade epithelial cells (Madin-Darby canine kidney (MDCK) cells), and showed that except for the mexCD-OprJ system, deletion of other efflux systems caused a significantly reduced ability of the bacterium to invade MDCK cells. Mutants lacking the MexAB-OprM system could not invade MDCK cells and that invasion could be restored by complementation of the strain with plasmid encoded mexA-oprM or by supplementation with culture supernatant obtained from MDCK cells infected with wild-type P. aeruginosa. These studies suggested that efflux systems can directly export virulent determinants and contribute to bacterial pathogenesis. In some other cases, efflux pump activity affects bacterial virulence in a more indirect manner, such as through altering quorum sensing responses. Those circumstances will be discussed as below.

3.2. Roles in cell-to-cell communication

Intercellular communication among bacteria plays an important role in bacterial stress response and community behaviors. One of the most important cell-to-cell communication mechanisms is the quorum sensing system. Quorum sensing (QS) bacteria produce and release chemical signaling molecules called autoinducers which increase in concentration as a function of cell-population density. As the accumulated autoinducers reach a minimal threshold stimulatory concentration, these small molecules bind to specific receptors which act as transcription regulators and consequently alters the gene expression profile in bacteria [64]. QS controls many cellular functions, including biosynthesis of antimicrobial peptides, metabolic switch, motility, polysaccharide synthesis and activation of many virulence factors.

In order to be sensed by other bacteria, autoinducers synthesized in vivo need to be exported and released into the extracellular space. Therefore transportation of the autoinducers is a key aspect for the regulatory function of QS. Autoinducers differ in their capability to diffuse across bacterial membranes. For instance, two *N*-acylhomoserine lactones (AHL) autoinducers from *Vibrio fischeri* and P. aeruginosa, 3-oxohexanoyl homoserine lactone (30C₆-HSL) and N-butyryl homoserine lactone (C_4 -HSL, also called PAI-2) respectively, are freely diffusible [65,66]. However, N-(3-oxododecanoyl) homoserine lactone (30C12-HSL, also called PAI-1) and 2-heptyl-3-hydroxy-4-quinolone (PQS) autoinducers of P. aeruginosa are not readily diffusible across the membrane, either due to their lager size or hydrophobic nature [66,67]. Under these circumstances, additional membrane vesicles or membrane transporters are required to assist the cross membrane transportation of those autoinducers. Herein we discuss the roles of bacterial MDR efflux pumps in autoinducers traffic and QS response.

The involvement of MDR efflux pumps in antoinducers traffic was first reported in *P. aeruginosa*, of which the QS system has been intensively studied. Poole et al. reported that hyper expression of MexAB–OprM efflux system in a P. aeruginosa isolate produced less AHL autoinducer 3OC12-HSL and displayed diminished QS response as indicated by the reduced production of several QS controlled extracellular virulence factors [68]. It was proposed that active efflux of 3OC₁₂-HSL by MexAB-OprM efflux pump limited the intracellular concentration of the autoinducer and consequently its dependent activation of the autoinducer producing gene lasl and genes encoding those virulence factors. The capability of efflux pumps to export QS autoinducers was also supported by the studies of Pearson et al. which demonstrated that $\Delta mexAB$ -oprM P. aeruginosa display reduced diffusion of the [³H]3OC₁₂-HSL autoinducer to the extracellular environment and accumulation of the intracellular [³H]3OC₁₂-HSL, confirming that MexAB–OprM plays a role in the active efflux of 3OC₁₂-HSL [66]. The MexEF–OprN and MexGHI-OpmD efflux system has also been shown to play a role in QS response, but in an indirect manner [69,70]. Expression of C₄-HSL autoinducer synthase gene *rhll* in a MexEF–OprN hyper expression mutant was found to be at only half level of that in wild type strain which led to decreased production of extracellular virulence factors controlled by QS [69]. Another efflux pump MexGHI-OpmD was found to export anthranilate, a toxic metabolite and PQS autoinducer precursor [70]. Consequently, deletion of mexG or opmD led to the failure of the synthesis of 3OC₁₂-HSL and PQS owing to the accumulated anthranilate precursor inside the cells [70].

The involvement of MDR efflux pumps in QS has also been reported in other bacterial species. For instance, it was reported that overexpression of the QS regulator SdiA in *E. coli* had increased AcrA and AcrB protein levels, suggesting a potential role of the AcrAB efflux pump in QS [71]. *E. coli* AcrAB and MdtK (NorE, a MATE type pump) efflux pumps were also proposed to export growth cessation QS signals and consequently mutation of these two pumps affected the adaptation of the bacterium to its stationary growth [72]. In *Bacteroides fragilis*, a predominant anaerobic opportunistic pathogen in gastrointestinal infection, it has been shown that the

expression of the BmeB efflux pump is controlled by QS, and it was proposed that BmeB can efflux AHL autoinducers outside of cells and modulate the intracellular AHL concentrations [73]. In *Burkholderia pseudomallei*, MDR efflux pump BpeAB–OprB was shown to be essential for the extracellular secretion of six AHL autoinducers [74,75], although a more recent study by another group demonstrated that this specific function of BpeAB–OprB pump is absent in a distinct *B. pseudomallei* strain [76].

On the other hand, Martinez et al. proposed that efflux pumps facilitate the shut-down of QS response in bacteria by increasing the efflux of autoinducers and/or autoinducer precursors, thus enabling the bacteria to quickly respond to environmental changes [77]. This notion is supported by the observation that QS null mutants are frequently isolated from environmental and clinical samples [78], which suggesting that lacking of this cell-to-cell communication system may be advantageous to *P. aeruginosa* at least in certain situations. This notion also seems reasonable at an economic aspect of view, as it has been calculated that QS response consumes at least 5% of the total energy supply in *P. aeruginosa*, whereas production of autoinducers requires only 0.01% of the total energy supply [79], underlying the important roles of efflux pumps in mediating the response of QS. Although export of autoinducers might not be the main physiological function of MDR efflux pumps, their involvement in this physiological process is clearly illustrated. Considering the central role of QS in virulence regulation in many pathogens, these efflux pumps dependent QS systems provide an alternative target for the development of antimicrobial interventions

3.3. Roles in biofilm formation

Most chronic and persistent bacterial infections are associated with biofilm growth, a strategy that has accelerated the emergence and rapid spread of multidrug resistant bacteria. It has been known for decades that biofilm associated bacteria is much more difficult to be eradicated by bactericidal antimicrobials than planktonic cells [80]. There seem to be multiple mechanisms operating simultaneously to contribute to this phenomenon. However, our understanding regarding the detailed underlying mechanisms is still very limited except for a few cases [81,82].

Recently, several studies have provided evidence to show that defect in efflux activity impairs biofilm formation, which linked the physiological function of efflux pump to biofilm formation. Kvist et al. [83] reported that inhibition of efflux activities by efflux pump inhibitors (EPIs) reduced biofilm formation in both E. coli and Klebsiella strains, while simultaneous treatment with different EPIs abolished biofilm formation completely. A screening of 22 efflux pump mutants for reduced biofilm formation has led to the identification of six efflux pumps that contribute to biofilm formation in *E*. coli K-12 strain [84]. Baugh et al. demonstrated that in Salmonella enterica serovar Typhimurium, genetic inactivation of any efflux pump or chemical inhibition of the efflux activity (EPIs treatment) results in compromised ability of Salmonella to form biofilm [85]. Further studies showed that defect of biofilm formation in efflux pump mutants was resulted from transcriptional repression of curli biosynthesis genes and consequently inhibition of its production, but was not associated with altered aggregative ability or export of any biofilm-promoting factor [86]. Their study also showed that efflux pump inhibitors that known to be active against Salmonella also effectively prevented biofilm formation in other species, including E. coli, P. aeruginosa and S. aureus, at a concentration lower than the growth inhibition concentration [86]. The impaired biofilm formation resulted from efflux pump inactivation has also been reported in *B. pseudomallei* [76]. The growing body of evidence which unveils the role of MDR efflux pump systems in biofilm formation has provided a promising antibiofilm strategy via inhibition of efflux activity.

4. Regulatory network of efflux pumps

Although efflux genes are ubiquitously distributed in bacterial genomes, except for the few housekeeping efflux systems, expression of the majority of them is subject to tight control by various transcription regulators, underlying their roles in facilitating the adaptation of bacteria to specific stimuli. Recent observation that overexpression of SmeDEF efflux pump in S. maltophilia impairs the fitness and virulence of this bacterium supported this notion [87,88]. Considering the capacity of efflux pump to extrude a wide range of structurally unrelated chemicals, it is reasonable to speculate that improper overexpression of efflux pumps may cause unwanted efflux of metabolites or other signaling molecules, resulting in deleterious effects on cell physiology. Therefore, expression of efflux pumps is usually well tuned and is only expressed at a low, basal level under the ordinary laboratory growth condition. Although the composition and functions of MDR efflux pumps are relatively conserved in different species, their regulatory mechanisms vary significantly. For instance, S. typhimurium, a member of the closest known genus to E. coli. employs a distinct regulatory network of efflux pump gene expression from that of E. coli. On the other hand, despite the divergence between species, different bacteria still share some common patterns in regulating the expression of efflux pump genes. A summary of the regulatory network of efflux pump gene expression in the model organisms E. coli and Salmonella has been reviewed by Nishino et al. [14]. Here, we focus on the findings in recent years and in a broader range of bacterial species. We categorize them into different regulatory patterns.

4.1. Regulation by local repressors

A glance of the currently known regulators of MDR efflux pumps in various species (Table 1) shows that majority of the regulators belong to the TetR, MarR, or MerR family, which usually acts as the transcriptional repressors [89–91]. For most of the efflux pumps, especially the RND type efflux pumps, a local repressor gene is usually found adjacent to the structural genes of efflux pumps [92]. Mutation in the local repressor gene is frequently observed in clinical isolates that display MDR phenotypes, suggesting that the purpose of this local repressor might be to avoid the excessive production of efflux pumps.

The simplest pattern of efflux pumps activation is through derepression of the local repressor mediated directly by specific effector molecules (e.g., bile salts, antibiotics etc.). A typical example is the activation of emrAB expression via the de-repression of the active form of EmrR, a MarR family repressor. In this system, emrR gene is located immediately upstream of the emrAB genes and encodes EmrR protein. EmrR binds directly to the promoter region of emrRAB operon and blocks the transcript of emrAB under non-inducing conditions [93]. When exposed to toxic chemicals, carbonylcyanide-3-chlorophenylhydrazone such as (CCCP)2,4-dinitrophenol (DNP) and ethidium bromide (Eb), binding of these drugs to EmrR causes conformational changes in the protein which attenuates its binding to the DNA promoter, resulting in the relief of the repression of emrAB [94]. Similar regulatory mechanism is also found in the case of the Bmr pump in B. subtilis which expression is mediated by the local repressor BmrR and binding of BmrR to DNA is destabilized by rhodamine 6G and tetraphenylphosphonium (TPP) [95,96]. Similar systems also include the expression of *cmeABC* pump in *Campylobacter jejuni* [97] and mtrABC pump in N. gonorrhoeae [98], which expression is repressed

by the regulator CmeR and MtrR respectively and both repressors can interact with bile salts and consequently be released from DNA binding. Other examples include the BpeR–BpeAB system in *B. pseudomallei* [74], MexT–MexEF system in *P. aeruginosa* [99,100], TtgR–TtgABC system in *P. putida* [101], MepR–MepA [102] and QacR–QacA systems [41,103,104] in *S. aureus*, and the SmeT-SmeDEF system in *S. maltophilia*. In all these cases, the repressor can be released from its bound DNA promoter upon the binding of their corresponding ligands or effector molecules. One explanation for the universal distribution of this negative regulation pattern might be that this mechanism does not require additional time to synthesize the activator and thus enables the corresponding bacterium to act more rapidly to environmental changes, e.g. toxic chemical exposure.

4.2. Regulation by global response regulators

Another common pattern is that the expression of efflux pumps is regulated by global regulators, in the presence or absence of a local repressor. One example is the intensively studied AcrAB housekeeping efflux pump in E. coli, which is conditionally activated by three XylS/AraC family regulators, MarA, Rob, and SoxS. These three regulators show high homology to each other and can bind to the same DNA sequence called marbox on the promoter of *acrAB* [105]. These three regulators can activate *acrAB* expression in response to different environmental signals. For instance, AcrAB is activated by salicylate, a plant hormone, through the MarA regulator. Binding of salicylate to MarR, a local repressor of marRAB operon, causes conformational changes in the protein which led to disassociation of MarR from the marRAB promoter [106-108]. Consequently, expression of MarA is de-repressed, which in turn activates the expression of acrAB. When E. coli is exposed to decanoate and unconjugated bile salts, chemicals commonly found in intestinal tract, expression of *acrAB* is activated by the Rob transcription regulator [109]. The inducers specifically bind to the non-DNA-binding domain of Rob. and since in this case activation of *acrAB* expression is not due to the increased expression level of Rob. it was proposed that expression of *acrAB* is activated by conformational changes of pre-existing Rob [109,110]. During oxidative stress (e.g., superoxide generated by redox-cycling agents), expression of acrAB is induced in a SoxRS dependent manner. Under this circumstance, SoxR is first activated via the oxidation of its [2Fe-2S] cluster by superoxide species. It then oxidizes SoxS into its active form which then binds to the maxbox on acrAB promoter and induces *acrAB* expression [111].

Similarly, the expression of *acrAB* efflux pump in *Salmonella* can be induced by paraquat, a superoxide generator, also in a SoxS dependent manner [112]. In *E. coli*, indole induces the expression of multiple efflux pumps but not AcrAB. However, indole can induce AcrAB expression in*Salmonella* [113]. It was shown that indole activated expression of *acrAB* in *Salmonella* is mediate by RamA, an AraC family transcriptional regulator [114]. This *Salmonella* specific regulator constitutes a distinct regulatory network which differs from that of *E. coli*. It was reported that bile salts induced *acrAB* expression is also dependent on RamA [114]. Shift of the intrinsic tryptophan spectrum of RamA upon adding of bile salts suggested direct binding of bile salts to this regulator, indicating a similar role of RamA in *Salmonella* as that of Rob in *E. coli*. Following study by Abouzeed et al. showed that RamA is regulated by its local repressor, RamR, a TetR family transcriptional regulator [115].

In *B. subtilis*, both Bmr and Blt efflux pumps are positively regulated by the global regulator Mta [116]. This MerR family regulator binds directly to *bmr* and *blt* promoters and activates their expression [116], yet the inducing signal of Mta is still unknown. In *N. gonorrhoeae*, it was reported that induction of the MtrCDE pumps by detergents is dependent on MtrA, an AraC family

Table 1

A summary of the known regulators of MDR efflux pumps.

Efflux pump	Pump type	Regulator	Regulator family	Inducible signal	References		
Acinetobacter ba	Acinetobacter baumannii						
AdeABC	RND	AdeRS	TCS	?	[131]		
Agrobacterium ti	umefaciens						
AmeABC	RND	AmeR	TetR	?	[154]		
AmrAB	RND	AmrR nutative	TetR	2	[155]		
BDeAB	RND	BDeR	TetR	: Erythromycin, stationary phase growth	[74]		
Commulation in		spen	Tetti	Lighteningen, stationary phase growth	17.41		
Cumpyioducier je	PND	CmeR	TetR	Bile salts	[07]		
ChicAbe	RND	CosR	OmpR	Paraguat	[119]		
		COSK	ompix	ranquat	[113]		
Bacillus subtilis	MEC	Deere	Marp	Phodomine CC TDD	[05.00]		
BIIII	IVIPS	BIIIIK Mta	MerR		[95,96]		
RI+	MES	BltP	MerR	?	[110]		
DIC	IVII 5	Mta	MerR	2	[116]		
			mem		[110]		
ESCRETICNIA COII	DND	AcrD	TotP	2	[157]		
ACIAD	KIND	ACIN	TetR	?	[157]		
		MarA	AraC	: Salicylate DNP	[111]		
		MarR	MarR	Salicylate DNP	[106]		
		SoxS	AraC	Paraguat	[111]		
		Rob	AraC	Bile salts, fatty acids	[111]		
		SdiA	LysR	?	[71]		
AcrD	RND	BaeSR	TCS	Indole	[122]		
		CpxAR	TCS	Indole	[122]		
AcrEF	RND	H-NS	Histone-like protein	?	[159]		
CusCFBA	RND	CusRS	TCS	Copper, silver, anaerobic amino acid limitation	[160]		
EmrAB	MFS	EmrR	MarR	CCCP, DNP, Eb, salicylate	[93]		
EmrKY	MFS	EvgSA	ICS	?	[124]		
MdtABC	DND	H-INS RacSP		/ Indolo	[139]		
MULADC	KIND	CnyAR	TCS	Indole	[123]		
MdtEF	RND	ArcAB	TCS	Anaerobic condition	[126]		
math	1412	CRP	CRP-FNR	N-Acetyl-p-glucosamine	[120]		
		EvgSA	TCS	?	[125]		
		H-NS	Histone-like protein	?	[126,159]		
		GadE		Acid stress	[161]		
		GadX		Indole	[162]		
Neisseria gonorrl	hoeae						
FarAB	RND	FarR	MarR	?	[118]		
MtrCDE	RND	MtrR	TetR	Fatty acids, bile salts	[98]		
		MtrA	AraC	TX-100 (detergent)	[117]		
Pseudomonas ae	ruginosa						
MexAB	RND	MexR	MarR	Superoxide stress	[163,164],		
		NalD	TetR	?	[165]		
MexCD	RND	NfxB	LacI/GalR	Biocide chlorhexidine	[53]		
MexEF	RND	MexT	LysR	Chloramphenicol, GSNO (nitrosative stress)	[99,100]		
WEXXY	KIND	IVIEXZ	ietk	retracycline, erythromycin, gentamicin	[100,107,108]		
Pseudomonas pu	tida						
ArpAB	RND	AprR	TetR	Organic solvents	[169]		
SrpABC	RND	SrpR	TetR	2	[170]		
ThuADC	DND	SrpS	ICIR	? Chlore and a sized testas and in a	[170]		
ItgABC	KND	ItgK TheT	TetR	Chloramphenicol, tetracycline	[101]		
TtgDEF	RND	Ttg1 TtgV	IclR	Organic solvents	[1/1]		
	NND .	itgv	icik	organic solvents	[172]		
Salmonella typhi	murium	1 B	T . D		[470]		
ACTAB	KND	ACTK	TetR	?	[173]		
		IVIdI'A Rama	AraC	: Indole bile salts	[1/4]		
		RamR	TetR	11401C, DHC Sails 2	[114]		
		SoxS	AraC	· 2	[112 174]		
AcrD	RND	BaeSR	TCS	Indole, zinc, copper	[130]		
-		CpxAR	TCS	Indole, zinc, copper	[130]		
AcrEF	RND	AcrS	TetR	?	[175]		
MacAB	ABC	PhoQP	TCS	Magnesium	[57]		
MdsABC	RND	GolS	MerR	Gold			
MdtABC	RND	BaeSR	TCS	Indole, zinc, copper	[130]		
		CpxAR	TCS	Indole, zinc, copper	[130]		

Table 1 (continued)

 Efflux pump	Pump type	Regulator	Regulator family	Inducible signal	References		
Staphylococcus aureus							
MepA	MATE	MepR		Chlorhexidine, cetrimide, dequalinium,	[102]		
QacA	MFS	QacR	TetR	Rhodamine 6G, TPP	[41,103,104]		
Stenotrophomonas maltophilia							
SmeABC	RND	SmeRS	TCS	?	[132]		
SmeDEF	RND	SmeT	TetR	Triclosan	[176,177]		

transcriptional regulator [117]. However, there is no direct evidence to demonstrate that MtrA binds to the *mtrCDE* promoter. FarAB, another RND type efflux pump in *N. gonorrhoeae*, was reported to be negatively regulated by FarR, a MarR family regulator, through direct binding to the *farAB* promoter [118]. In *C. jejuni*, the major MDR efflux pump CmeABC is negatively regulated by the global regulator, CosR, in response to paraquat [119]. CosR is an OmpR family regulator, and can directly bind to the *cmeABC* promoter as confirmed by both electrophoretic mobility shift assay (EMSA) and DNase I footprinting assays.

4.3. Regulation by two component systems

Two component system (TCS) is widely distributed in prokaryotes, which allows bacteria to sense and respond to various environmental changes. TCS is typically consisted of a histidine kinase and a response regulator [120]. The Membrane associated histidine kinase can sense and transduce different environmental stimuli through phosphorylation of the response regulator, which acts as the transcriptional regulator and alters the expression of downstream genes [120]. Based on homology analysis, it was suggested that there are total of 30 sensors and 34 response regulators in *E. coli* gnome [121].

A comprehensive investigation of the relationship between TCSs and efflux pumps revealed that 17 response regulators are involved in drug resistance in *E. coli* [122]. Using efflux pump gene deletion strains, it was found that the increased resistance in TCS overexpression background was attributed to the expression of several efflux pumps [122]. Among them, BaeSR system activated the expression of *mdtABC* and *acrD* in response to indole [113,123], CpxAR system activated the expression of *mdtABC* and *acrD* probably in response the envelop stress [122], and EvgSA system activated the expression of *mdtEF* and *emrKY* in response to yet unknown signals [124,125]. Recently, our group found that ArcAB TCS activated the expression of *mdtEF* efflux pump in M9 glucose medium under anaerobic condition by directly binding to multiple regions on the promoter of *gadE-mdtEF* operon [126,127].

In Salmonella, the expression of RND type MacAB pump is regulated by the PhoPQ TCS, the master regulator of the virulence of Salmonella, which senses and responds to low magnesium level and low pH condition [128,129]. Protection of macA promoter by purified PhoP protein in DNase I footprinting suggested that PhoP directly controls the expression of macAB [57]. Similar as in *E. coli*, the Samonella TCS BaeSR system also activates the expression of mdtABC and acrD, but in response to copper or zinc. EMSA assay confirmed the direct binding of BaeR to the promoter of mdtABC and acrD [130].

The involvement of TCS in the regulation of efflux pumps has also been reported in other species. It was reported that in *Acinetobacter baumannii*, expression of RND type efflux pump AdeABC is controlled by the AdeRS TCS encoded by *adeRS* genes located upstream of *adeABC* genes [131]. Inactivation of AdeR or AdeS led to susceptibility of *A. baumannii* to aminoglycosides which are the substrates of this pump, indicating the essential role of AdeRS in *adeABC* expression. However, the nature of the inducing signal and the mechanism of AdeRS activation remains unclear. The RND type efflux pump SmeABC in *S. maltophilia* is also reported to be controlled by a TCS called SmeRS, located upstream of the efflux pump genes. Studies have found that inactivation of SmeR response regulator resulted in decreased resistance to several antibiotics and overexpression of *smeR* can increase the transcript of *smeABC* [132].

5. Efflux pump inhibitors

Overexpression of multidrug efflux pumps has been frequently found in clinical isolates that have increased MICs to antibiotics. Recent studies suggested that multidrug transporters have become a major determinant for the efficacy of both new and old antibiotics [133]. As a consequence, antibiotic drug discovery and development in recent years have to take into consideration the overcome of antibiotic resistance in common Gram-positive and Gram-negative pathogens. Studies on the structures of multidrug efflux pumps not only provided essential evidence for the mechanisms of multidrug binding and extrusion, but also have shed light on the structure-based approach to discover efflux pump inhibitors (EPIs). To date, at least two classes of broad-spectrum EPI, such as peptidomimetics and pyridopyrimidines, have been extensively characterized [133].

Phenyl-arginine beta-naphthylamide (PAβN) [MC-207,110] was the first identified EPI that inhibits all four clinically relevant P. aeruginosa efflux systems, MexAB-OprM, MexCD-OprI, MexEF–OprN, and MexXY–OprM [134]. It successfully reduced the emergence of levofloxacin-resistance in P. aeruginosa strain PAO1 treated with levofloxacin [135]. PABN also has an activity against the AcrAB-TolC in a variety of Gram-negative pathogens, such as E. coli, S. typhimurium and K. pneumoniae [134]. It's inhibition mechanism was proposed to be acting as an RND substrate that occupies an affinity site in the large substrate-binding pocket different from that occupied by a given antibiotic [134]. However, the general use of this molecule remains questionable for several reasons. The most important reason is that high concentration of PABN affects the membrane integrity of bacteria which may lead to LPS modification [135] and consequently the induction of undesirable resistance profiles by reducing drug penetration. PABN derivatives have been explored in order to improve the efficacy of this class of peptidomimetic EPI. One derived compound, MC-04,124, is more stable than the original PABN molecule in biological fluids, exhibits less toxicity, and has stronger activity against P. aeruginosa strains that overexpress efflux pumps [136].

Considerable efforts have been made to further modify this chemical series which led to the development of pyridopyrimidine compounds. However, the first generation of pyridopyrimidine derivatives had the problems of low solubility, high serum protein binding as well as lack of efficacy in vivo. Following the approaches of scaffolds re-design [137,138], addition of hydrophilic chains, as well as introduction of quaternary ammonium salt side chains [139,140], the compound [[2-({[((3R)-1-{8-{[(4-*tert*-butyl-1,3-thiazol-2-yl]) amino]carbonyl}-4-oxo-3-[(*E*)-2-(1H-tetrazol-5-yl)vinyl]-4H-pyrido [1,2-a]pyrimidin-2-yl}piperidin-3-yl)oxy]carbonyl}amino) ethyl]

(dimethyl) ammonio] acetate [D13-9001] [141], which was referred to as AcrAB/MexAB-specific inhibitor of pyridopyrimidine derivative (ABI-PP) by Nakashima et al. [142], was developed. ABI-PP exhibited potent inhibitor efficacy in vivo, high solubility, and a good safety profile in an acute toxicity assay [141]. Recently, the X-ray crystal structures of ABI-PP bound with AcrB and MexB have been obtained and the structure shows that the pyridopyrimidine derivative (ABI-PP, mentioned as D13-9001priverously) binds to a narrow pit located in the distal pocket and hinders the rotation of the pump [142]. These structural details provided essential evidence for the structure-based development of universal inhibitors that inhibit both MexB and MexY.

Another group of EPIs is called the quinoline derivatives, because of their structural similarity with quinolones [143]. These compounds include chloroquinolone, alkoxyquinolone, alkylaminoquinolone, pyrridoquinolone, and thioalkoxyquinolone [136]. Some of them have been shown to be able to reduce the MICs of quinolones and cyclines. Moreover, these derivatives can increase intracellular concentration of radiolabelled norfloxacin or chloramphenicol [144,145] and increase antibiotic susceptibility for various strains including the clinical isolates of *Enterobacter aerogenes* and *K. pneumoniae* [145]. An advantage of this series of derivatives is that they do not destroy the membrane integrity of bacteria as measured by the potassium leakage and periplasmic activity tests [145].

In addition to the structurally modified synthetic compounds that display efflux pump inhibition activities, high-throughput assays have also used to screen compounds that might be putative EPIs. In a high-throughput screening for putative inhibitor of E. coli in the presence of novobiocin, a 3-arylpiperidine derivative was identified to be able to increase the intracellular concentration of norobiocin and another antibiotic linezolid [146]. Another screening of an N-heterocyclic organic compound library was conducted to identify putative EPIs that can reverse multidrug resistance in E. coli that over-expresses AcrAB and AcrEF efflux pumps [147]. Among the compounds tested, naphthylpiperazines (NMP) was the most potent arylpiperazines that has been shown to increase the intracellular accumulation of several antibiotics, such as fluoroquinolones, chloramphenicol, and linezolid. However, these compounds seem to be too toxic for clinical usage because of "serotonin agonist" properties [136]. Natural products (NP) that have been implicated in efflux inhibition have also attracted intensive attention since these compounds are often less toxic than synthetic compounds. Lee et al. [148] discovered two compounds, EA-371 α and EA-371 δ , in microbial fermentation extracts to be specific inhibitors of the MexAB-OprM pump in P. aeruginosa. In addition, pheophorbide a extracted from Berberis aetnensis was shown to lower the MIC of ciprofloxacin against E. coli and *P. aeruginosa* [149,150].

In Gram-positive bacteria, EPIs against the NorA system in *S. aureus* has been intensively studied. A large number of both synthetic and natural compounds have been found to be EPIs against *S. aureus* NorA, especially those of natural origins such as genistein isolated from *Lupinus argenteus*, spinosan A isolated from *Dalea spinosa* and Tiliroside isolated from *Herissantia tiubae* [151–153].

Though considerable efforts have been made to the development of EPIs, none of these EPIs is used in clinics currently. One main reason is that the mechanisms of most EPIs remain unknown, except the extensively investigated PAβN. But very recently, with the availability of the first inhibitor-bound structures of AcrB and MexB [142], our understanding of the detailed mechanism of EPIs and the development of clinically useful efflux pump inhibitors have been advanced significantly. Future research will focus on the development of extensive biological assays towards the application of EPIs in clinics, such as fitness and in vivo modeling studies [134]. In addition, expanded EPI efficacy assays beyond the several model microorganisms, such as *P. aeruginosa* and *E. coli* should also be developed.

In summary, significant development on the mechanism, regulation, and physiological functions of multidrug efflux pumps have been achieved in the past decades. The growing numbers of the Xray crystal structures of efflux pumps as well as those with bound substrates or inhibitors continue to advance our understanding of this important determinant of MDR and guide the development of efflux pump inhibitors. EPIs combining with antibiotics presented as a promising intervention to combat infections caused by drug resistant pathogens. Approaches to prevent the over-expression of efflux genes by targeting to their transcription regulators provide an alternative emerging strategy. However, to facilitate their clinical applications, future endeavors to lower their cytotoxicity, improve solubility, as well as search for the candidates that can inhibit different classes of efflux pumps is necessary.

References

- K. Poole, Efflux pumps as antimicrobial resistance mechanisms, Ann. Med. 39 (2007) 162–176.
- [2] LJ. Piddock, Multidrug-resistance efflux pumps? Not just for resistance, Nat. Rev. Microbiol. 4 (2006) 629–636.
- [3] M. Putman, H.W. van Veen, W.N. Konings, Molecular properties of bacterial multidrug transporters, Microbiol. Mol. Biol. Rev. 64 (2000) 672–693.
- [4] J. Handzlik, A. Matys, K. Kieć-Kononowicz, Recent advances in multi-drug resistance (MDR) efflux pump inhibitors of Gram-positive bacteria S. aureus, Antibiotics 2 (2013) 28–45.
- [5] X.-Z. Li, H. Nikaido, Efflux-mediated drug resistance in bacteria, Drugs 64 (2004) 159–204.
- [6] LJ. Piddock, Clinically relevant chromosomally encoded multidrug resistance efflux pumps in bacteria, Clin. Microbiol. Rev. 19 (2006) 382–402.
- [7] L. Howell, Global Risks 2013: An Initiative of the Risk Response Network, World Economic Forum, Geneva, Switzerland, 2013.
- [8] T. Sato, S.-I. Yokota, T. Okubo, K. Ishihara, H. Ueno, Y. Muramatsu, N. Fujii, Y. Tamura, Contribution of the AcrAB-ToIC efflux pump to high-level fluoroquinolone resistance in *Escherichia coli* isolated from dogs and humans, J. Vet. Med. Sci. 75 (2013) 407–414.
- [9] I. Pakzad, M.Z. Karin, M. Taherikalani, M. Boustanshenas, A.R. Lari, Contribution of AcrAB efflux pump to ciprofloxacin resistance in *Klebsiella pneumoniae* isolated from burn patients, GMS Hyg. Infect. Control 8 (2013).
- [10] C. Llanes, D. Hocquet, C. Vogne, D. Benali-Baitich, C. Neuwirth, P. Plésiat, Clinical strains of Pseudomonas aeruginosa overproducing MexAB–OprM and MexXY efflux pumps simultaneously, Antimicrob. Agents Chemother. 48 (2004) 1797–1802.
- [11] V.C. Gould, A. Okazaki, M.B. Avison, Coordinate hyperproduction of SmeZ and SmeJK efflux pumps extends drug resistance in *Stenotrophomonas maltophilia*, Antimicrob. Agents Chemother. 57 (2013) 655–657.
- [12] H.B. Kim, M. Wang, C.H. Park, E.-C. Kim, G.A. Jacoby, D.C. Hooper, OqxAB encoding a multidrug efflux pump in human clinical isolates of Enterobacteriaceae, Antimicrob. Agents Chemother. 53 (2009) 3582–3584.
- [13] C. Kosmidis, B.D. Schindler, P.L. Jacinto, D. Patel, K. Bains, S.M. Seo, G.W. Kaatz, Expression of multidrug resistance efflux pump genes in clinical and environmental isolates of *Staphylococcus aureus*, Int. J. Antimicrob. Agents 40 (2012) 204–209.
- [14] K. Nishino, E. Nikaido, A. Yamaguchi, Regulation and physiological function of multidrug efflux pumps in *Escherichia coli* and *Salmonella*, Biochim. Biophys. Acta Proteins Proteomics 1794 (2009) 834–843.
- [15] N. Masuda, E. Sakagawa, S. Ohya, N. Gotoh, H. Tsujimoto, T. Nishino, Substrate specificities of MexAB–OprM, MexCD–OprJ, and MexXY–oprM efflux pumps in *Pseudomonas aeruginosa*, Antimicrob. Agents Chemother. 44 (2000) 3322– 3327.
- [16] H.I. Zgurskaya, H. Nikaido, Cross-linked complex between oligomeric periplasmic lipoprotein AcrA and the inner-membrane-associated multidrug efflux pump AcrB from *Escherichia coli*, J. Bacteriol. 182 (2000) 4264–4267.
- [17] E.B. Tikhonova, Q. Wang, H.I. Zgurskaya, Chimeric analysis of the multicomponent multidrug efflux transporters from gram-negative bacteria, J. Bacteriol. 184 (2002) 6499–6507.
- [18] T. Touzé, J. Eswaran, E. Bokma, E. Koronakis, C. Hughes, V. Koronakis, Interactions underlying assembly of the *Escherichia coli* AcrAB–TolC multidrug efflux system, Mol. Microbiol. 53 (2004) 697–706.
- [19] C.A. Elkins, H. Nikaido, Substrate specificity of the RND-type multidrug efflux pumps AcrB and AcrD of *Escherichia coli* is determined predominately by two large periplasmic loops, J. Bacteriol. 184 (2002) 6490–6498.
- [20] S. Lobedanz, E. Bokma, M.F. Symmons, E. Koronakis, C. Hughes, V. Koronakis, A periplasmic coiled-coil interface underlying TolC recruitment and the assembly of bacterial drug efflux pumps, Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. 104 (2007) 4612–4617.

- [21] C.A. Elkins, H. Nikaido, Chimeric analysis of AcrA function reveals the importance of its C-terminal domain in its interaction with the AcrB multidrug efflux pump, J. Bacteriol. 185 (2003) 5349–5356.
- [22] S. Murakami, R. Nakashima, E. Yamashita, A. Yamaguchi, Crystal structure of bacterial multidrug efflux transporter AcrB, Nature 419 (2002) 587–593.
- [23] S. Murakami, R. Nakashima, E. Yamashita, T. Matsumoto, A. Yamaguchi, Crystal structures of a multidrug transporter reveal a functionally rotating mechanism, Nature 443 (2006) 173–179.
- [24] M.A. Seeger, A. Schiefner, T. Eicher, F. Verrey, K. Diederichs, K.M. Pos, Structural asymmetry of AcrB trimer suggests a peristaltic pump mechanism, Science 313 (2006) 1295–1298.
- [25] G. Sennhauser, P. Amstutz, C. Briand, O. Storchenegger, M.G. Grütter, Drug export pathway of multidrug exporter AcrB revealed by DARPin inhibitors, PLoS Biol. 5 (2006) e7.
- [26] Y. Takatsuka, H. Nikaido, Covalently linked trimer of the AcrB multidrug efflux pump provides support for the functional rotating mechanism, J. Bacteriol. 191 (2009) 1729–1737.
- [27] J.A. Bohnert, S. Schuster, M.A. Seeger, E. Fähnrich, K.M. Pos, W.V. Kern, Sitedirected mutagenesis reveals putative substrate binding residues in the *Escherichia coli* RND efflux pump AcrB, J. Bacteriol. 190 (2008) 8225–8229.
- [28] Y. Takatsuka, C. Chen, H. Nikaido, Mechanism of recognition of compounds of diverse structures by the multidrug efflux pump AcrB of *Escherichia coli*, Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. 107 (2010) 6559–6565.
- [29] T. Eicher, H.-J. Cha, M.A. Seeger, L. Brandstätter, J. El-Delik, J.A. Bohnert, W.V. Kern, F. Verrey, M.G. Grütter, K. Diederichs, Transport of drugs by the multidrug transporter AcrB involves an access and a deep binding pocket that are separated by a switch-loop, Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. 109 (2012) 5687–5692.
- [30] H. Akama, T. Matsuura, S. Kashiwagi, H. Yoneyama, S.-I. Narita, T. Tsukihara, A. Nakagawa, T. Nakae, Crystal structure of the membrane fusion protein, *Pseudomonas aeruginosa*, J. Biol. Chem. 279 (2004) 25939–25942.
- [31] K. Poole, K. Krebes, C. McNally, S. Neshat, Multiple antibiotic resistance in *Pseudomonas aeruginosa*: evidence for involvement of an efflux operon, J. Bacteriol. 175 (1993) 7363–7372.
- [32] G. Sennhauser, M.A. Bukowska, C. Briand, M.G. Grütter, Crystal structure of the multidrug exporter MexB from *Pseudomonas aeruginosa*, J. Mol. Biol. 389 (2009) 134–145.
- [33] H. Akama, M. Kanemaki, M. Yoshimura, T. Tsukihara, T. Kashiwagi, H. Yoneyama, S.-I. Narita, A. Nakagawa, T. Nakae, Crystal structure of the drug discharge outer membrane protein, membrane anchoring and occluded cavity end, J. Biol. Chem. 279 (2004) 52816–52819.
- [34] M.K. Higgins, E. Bokma, E. Koronakis, C. Hughes, V. Koronakis, Structure of the periplasmic component of a bacterial drug efflux pump, Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A. 101 (2004) 9994–9999.
- [35] Y. Yin, X. He, P. Szewczyk, T. Nguyen, G. Chang, Structure of the multidrug transporter EmrD from *Escherichia coli*, Science 312 (2006) 741–744.
- [36] I.T. Paulsen, K. Lewis, Microbial Multidrug Efflux, Horizon Scientific, 2002.
- [37] O. Pornillos, Y.-J. Chen, A.P. Chen, G. Chang, X-ray structure of the EmrE multidrug transporter in complex with a substrate, Science 310 (2005) 1950– 1953.
- [38] Y.-J. Chen, O. Pornillos, S. Lieu, C. Ma, A.P. Chen, G. Chang, X-ray structure of EmrE supports dual topology model, Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. 104 (2007) 18999– 19004.
- [39] M. Li, R. Gu, C.-C. Su, M.D. Routh, K.C. Harris, E.S. Jewell, G. McDermott, E.W. Yu, Crystal structure of the transcriptional regulator AcrR from *Escherichia coli*, J. Mol. Biol. 374 (2007) 591–603.
- [40] W. Hinrichs, C. Kisker, M. Duvel, A. Muller, K. Tovar, W. Hillen, W. Saenger, Structure of the Tet repressor-tetracycline complex and regulation of antibiotic resistance, Science 264 (1994) 418–420.
- [41] M.A. Schumacher, M.C. Miller, S. Grkovic, M.H. Brown, R.A. Skurray, R.G. Brennan, Structural mechanisms of QacR induction and multidrug recognition, Science 294 (2001) 2158–2163.
- [42] R. Gu, C.-C. Su, F. Shi, M. Li, G. McDermott, Q. Zhang, E.W. Yu, Crystal structure of the transcriptional regulator CmeR from *Campylobacter jejuni*, J. Mol. Biol. 372 (2007) 583–593.
- [43] M.S. Wilke, M. Heller, A.L. Creagh, C.A. Haynes, L.P. McIntosh, K. Poole, N.C. Strynadka, The crystal structure of MexR from *Pseudomonas aeruginosa* in complex with its antirepressor ArmR, Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. 105 (2008) 14832– 14837.
- [44] Y. Alguel, D. Lu, N. Quade, S. Sauter, X. Zhang, Crystal structure of MexZ, a key repressor responsible for antibiotic resistance in *Pseudomonas aeruginosa*, J. Struct. Biol. 172 (2010) 305–310.
- [45] E.E. Smith, D.G. Buckley, Z. Wu, C. Saenphimmachak, L.R. Hoffman, D.A. D'Argenio, S.I. Miller, B.W. Ramsey, D.P. Speert, S.M. Moskowitz, Genetic adaptation by *Pseudomonas aeruginosa* to the airways of cystic fibrosis patients, Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. 103 (2006) 8487–8492.
- [46] T. Hay, S. Fraud, C.H.-F. Lau, C. Gilmour, K. Poole, Antibiotic inducibility of the mexXY multidrug efflux operon of *Pseudomonas aeruginosa*: involvement of the MexZ anti-repressor ArmZ, PLoS One 8 (2013) e56858.
- [47] E.E.Z. Heldwein, R.G. Brennan, Crystal structure of the transcription activator BmrR bound to DNA and a drug, Nature 409 (2001) 378–382.
- [48] M.A. Schumacher, M.C. Miller, R.G. Brennan, Structural mechanism of the simultaneous binding of two drugs to a multidrug-binding protein, EMBO J. 23 (2004) 2923–2930.
- [49] M.A. Schumacher, R.G. Brennan, Deciphering the molecular basis of multidrug recognition: crystal structures of the *Staphylococcus aureus* multidrug binding transcription regulator QacR, Res. Microbiol. 154 (2003) 69–77.

- [50] D. Ma, D.N. Cook, M. Alberti, N.G. Pon, H. Nikaido, J.E. Hearst, Genes acrA and acrB encode a stress-induced efflux system of *Escherichia coli*, Mol. Microbiol. 16 (1995) 45–55.
- [51] H. Okusu, D. Ma, H. Nikaido, AcrAB efflux pump plays a major role in the antibiotic resistance phenotype of *Escherichia coli* multiple-antibioticresistance (Mar) mutants, J. Bacteriol. 178 (1996) 306–308.
- [52] D.G. Thanassi, L.W. Cheng, H. Nikaido, Active efflux of bile salts by *Escherichia coli*, J. Bacteriol. 179 (1997) 2512–2518.
- [53] K. Poole, N. Gotoh, H. Tsujimoto, Q. Zhao, A. Wada, T. Yamasaki, S. Neshat, J.-I. Yamagishi, X.-Z. Li, T. Nishino, Overexpression of the mexC-mexD-oprJ efflux operon in nfxB-type multidrug-resistant strains of *Pseudomonas aeruginosa*, Mol. Microbiol. 21 (1996) 713–725.
- [54] W. Shafer, X.-D. Qu, A. Waring, R. Lehrer, Modulation of *Neisseria gonorrhoeae* susceptibility to vertebrate antibacterial peptides due to a member of the resistance/nodulation/division efflux pump family, Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. 95 (1998) 1829–1833.
- [55] L.J. Piddock, D.G. White, K. Gensberg, L. Pumbwe, D.J. Griggs, Evidence for an efflux pump mediating multiple antibiotic resistance in Salmonella enterica serovar Typhimurium, Antimicrob. Agents Chemother. 44 (2000) 3118–3121.
- [56] A.M. Buckley, M.A. Webber, S. Cooles, L.P. Randall, R.M. La Ragione, M.J. Woodward, L.J. Piddock, The AcrAB–TolC efflux system of *Salmonella enterica* serovar *Typhimurium* plays a role in pathogenesis, Cell. Microbiol. 8 (2006) 847–856.
- [57] K. Nishino, T. Latifi, E.A. Groisman, Virulence and drug resistance roles of multidrug efflux systems of *Salmonella enterica* serovar *Typhimurium*, Mol. Microbiol. 59 (2006) 126–141.
- [58] A.E. Jerse, N.D. Sharma, A.N. Simms, E.T. Crow, L.A. Snyder, W.M. Shafer, A gonococcal efflux pump system enhances bacterial survival in a female mouse model of genital tract infection, Infect. Immun. 71 (2003) 5576–5582.
- [59] E. Padilla, E. Llobet, A. Domenech-Sanchez, L. Martinez-Martinez, J.A. Bengoechea, S. Alberti, Klebsiella pneumoniae AcrAB Efflux Pump contributes to antimicrobial resistance and virulence, Antimicrob. Agents Chemother. 54 (2010) 177–183.
- [60] A. Perez, M. Poza, A. Fernandez, M. del Carmen, F.S. Mallo, M. Merino, S. Rumbo-Feal, M.P. Cabral, G. Bou, Involvement of the AcrAB-TolC efflux pump in the resistance, fitness, and virulence of *Enterobacter cloacae*, Antimicrob. Agents Chemother. 56 (2012) 2084–2090.
- [61] A. Burse, H. Weingart, M.S. Ullrich, The phytoalexin-inducible multidrug efflux pump AcrAB contributes to virulence in the fire blight pathogen, *Erwinia amylovora*, Mol. Plant-Microbe Interact. 17 (2004) 43–54.
- [62] D.G. Brown, J.K. Swanson, C. Allen, Two host-induced *Ralstonia solanacearum* genes, acrA and dinF, encode multidrug efflux pumps and contribute to bacterial wilt virulence, Appl. Environ. Microbiol. 73 (2007) 2777–2786.
- [63] Y. Hirakata, R. Srikumar, K. Poole, N. Gotoh, T. Suematsu, S. Kohno, S. Kamihira, R.E. Hancock, D.P. Speert, Multidrug efflux systems play an important role in the invasiveness of *Pseudomonas aeruginosa*, J. Exp. Med. 196 (2002) 109–118.
- [64] J.E. González, N.D. Keshavan, Messing with bacterial quorum sensing, Microbiol. Mol. Biol. Rev. 70 (2006) 859–875.
- [65] H.B. Kaplan, E. Greenberg, Diffusion of autoinducer is involved in regulation of the Vibrio fischeri luminescence system, J. Bacteriol. 163 (1985) 1210–1214.
- [66] J.P. Pearson, C. Van Delden, B.H. Iglewski, Active efflux and diffusion are involved in transport of *Pseudomonas aeruginosa* cell-to-cell signals, J. Bacteriol. 181 (1999) 1203–1210.
- [67] L.M. Mashburn, M. Whiteley, Membrane vesicles traffic signals and facilitate group activities in a prokaryote, Nature 437 (2005) 422–425.
- [68] K. Evans, L. Passador, R. Srikumar, E. Tsang, J. Nezezon, K. Poole, Influence of the MexAB–OprM multidrug efflux system on quorum sensing in *Pseudomonas aeruginosa*, J. Bacteriol. 180 (1998) 5443–5447.
- [69] T. Köhler, C. van Delden, L.K. Curty, M.M. Hamzehpour, J.-C. Pechere, Overexpression of the MexEF-OprN multidrug efflux system affects cell-tocell signaling in *Pseudomonas aeruginosa*, J. Bacteriol. 183 (2001) 5213–5222.
- [70] S. Aendekerk, S.P. Diggle, Z. Song, N. Høiby, P. Cornelis, P. Williams, M. Cámara, The MexGHI-OpmD multidrug efflux pump controls growth, antibiotic susceptibility and virulence in *Pseudomonas aeruginosa* via 4-quinolonedependent cell-to-cell communication, Microbiology 151 (2005) 1113–1125.
- [71] S. Rahmati, S. Yang, A.L. Davidson, E.L. Zechiedrich, Control of the AcrAB multidrug efflux pump by quorum-sensing regulator SdiA, Mol. Microbiol. 43 (2002) 677–685.
- [72] S. Yang, C.R. Lopez, E.L. Zechiedrich, Quorum sensing and multidrug transporters in *Escherichia coli*, Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A. 103 (2006) 2386–2391.
- [73] L. Pumbwe, C.A. Skilbeck, H.M. Wexler, Presence of quorum-sensing systems associated with multidrug resistance and biofilm formation in *Bacteroides fragilis*, Microb. Ecol. 56 (2008) 412–419.
- [74] Y.Y. Chan, K.L. Chua, The Burkholderia pseudomallei BpeAB-OprB efflux pump: expression and impact on quorum sensing and virulence, J. Bacteriol. 187 (2005) 4707–4719.
- [75] Y.Y. Chan, H.S. Bian, T.M.C. Tan, M.E. Mattmann, G.D. Geske, J. Igarashi, T. Hatano, H. Suga, H.E. Blackwell, K.L. Chua, Control of quorum sensing by a *Burkholderia pseudomallei* multidrug efflux pump, J. Bacteriol. 189 (2007) 4320–4324.
- [76] T. Mima, H.P. Schweizer, The BpeAB-OprB efflux pump of *Burkholderia pseudomallei* 1026b does not play a role in quorum sensing, virulence factor production, or extrusion of aminoglycosides but is a broad-spectrum drug efflux system, Antimicrob. Agents Chemother. 54 (2010) 3113–3120.

- [77] J.L. Martinez, M.B. Sánchez, L. Martínez-Solano, A. Hernandez, L. Garmendia, A. Fajardo, C. Alvarez-Ortega, Functional role of bacterial multidrug efflux pumps in microbial natural ecosystems, FEMS Microbiol. Rev. 33 (2009) 430– 449.
- [78] K. Heurlier, V. Dénervaud, D. Haas, Impact of quorum sensing on fitness of Pseudomonas aeruginosa, Int. J. Med. Microbiol. 296 (2006) 93–102.
- [79] D. Haas, Cost of cell-cell signalling in *Pseudomonas aeruginosa*: why it can pay to be signal-blind, Nat. Rev. Microbiol. 4 (2006) 562.
- [80] K. Lewis, Riddle of biofilm resistance, Antimicrob. Agents Chemother. 45 (2001) 999–1007.
- [81] T.-F. Mah, B. Pitts, B. Pellock, G.C. Walker, P.S. Stewart, G.A. O'Toole, A genetic basis for *Pseudomonas aeruginosa* biofilm antibiotic resistance, Nature 426 (2003) 306–310.
- [82] T.-F.C. Mah, G.A. O'Toole, Mechanisms of biofilm resistance to antimicrobial agents, Trends Microbiol. 9 (2001) 34–39.
- [83] M. Kvist, V. Hancock, P. Klemm, Inactivation of efflux pumps abolishes bacterial biofilm formation, Appl. Environ. Microbiol. 74 (2008) 7376–7382.
- [84] K. Matsumura, S. Furukawa, H. Ogihara, Y. Morinaga, Roles of multidrug efflux pumps on the biofilm formation of *Escherichia coli* K-12, Biocontrol Sci. 16 (2011) 69–72.
- [85] S. Baugh, A.S. Ekanayaka, L.J.V. Piddock, M.A. Webber, Loss of or inhibition of all multidrug resistance efflux pumps of *Salmonella enterica* serovar *Typhimurium* results in impaired ability to form a biofilm, J. Antimicrob. Chemother. 67 (2012) 2409–2417.
- [86] S. Baugh, C.R. Phillips, A.S. Ekanayaka, L.J.V. Piddock, M.A. Webber, Inhibition of multidrug efflux as a strategy to prevent biofilm formation, J. Antimicrob. Chemother. 69 (2014) 673–681.
- [87] A. Alonso, G. Morales, R. Escalante, E. Campanario, L. Sastre, J.L. Martinez, Overexpression of the multidrug efflux pump SmeDEF impairs *Stenotrophomonas maltophilia* physiology, J. Antimicrob. Chemother. 53 (2004) 432–434.
- [88] D.I. Andersson, B.R. Levin, The biological cost of antibiotic resistance, Curr. Opin. Microbiol. 2 (1999) 489–493.
- [89] J.L. Ramos, M. Martínez-Bueno, A.J. Molina-Henares, W. Terán, K. Watanabe, X. Zhang, M.T. Gallegos, R. Brennan, R. Tobes, The TetR family of transcriptional repressors, Microbiol. Mol. Biol. Rev. 69 (2005) 326–356.
- [90] I.C. Perera, A. Grove, Molecular mechanisms of ligand-mediated attenuation of DNA binding by MarR family transcriptional regulators, J. Mol. Cell Biol. 2 (2010) 243–254.
- [91] N.L. Brown, J.V. Stoyanov, S.P. Kidd, J.L. Hobman, The MerR family of transcriptional regulators, FEMS Microbiol. Rev. 27 (2003) 145–163.
- [92] S. Grkovic, M.H. Brown, R.A. Skurray, Transcription regulation of multidrug efflux pumps in bacteria, Semin. Cell Dev. Biol. 12 (2001) 225–237.
- [93] A. Xiong, A. Gottman, C. Park, M. Baetens, S. Pandza, A. Matin, The EmrR protein represses the *Escherichia coli* emrRAB multidrug resistance operon by directly binding to its promoter region, Antimicrob. Agents Chemother. 44 (2000) 2905–2907.
- [94] A. Brooun, J.J. Tomashek, K. Lewis, Purification and ligand binding of EmrR, a regulator of a multidrug transporter, J. Bacteriol. 181 (1999) 5131–5133.
- [95] E.E. Zheleznova, P.N. Markham, A.A. Neyfakh, R.G. Brennan, Structural basis of multidrug recognition by BmrR, a transcription activator of a multidrug transporter, Cell 96 (1999) 353–362.
- [96] M. Ahmed, C.M. Borsch, S.S. Taylor, N. Vazquez-Laslop, A.A. Neyfakh, A protein that activates expression of a multidrug efflux transporter upon binding the transporter substrates, J. Biol. Chem. 269 (1994) 28506–28513.
- [97] J. Lin, C. Cagliero, B. Guo, Y.-W. Barton, M.-C. Maurel, S. Payot, Q. Zhang, Bile salts modulate expression of the CmeABC multidrug efflux pump in *Campylobacter jejuni*, J. Bacteriol. 187 (2005) 7417–7424.
- [98] C.E. Lucas, J.T. Balthazar, K.E. Hagman, W.M. Shafer, The MtrR repressor binds the DNA sequence between the mtrR and mtrC genes of *Neisseria gonorrhoeae*, J. Bacteriol. 179 (1997) 4123–4128.
- [99] H. Maseda, M. Uwate, T. Nakae, Transcriptional regulation of the mexEF-oprN multidrug efflux pump operon by MexT and an unidentified repressor in nfxC-type mutant of *Pseudomonas aeruginosa*, FEMS Microbiol. Lett. 311 (2010) 36–43.
- [100] H. Fetar, C. Gilmour, R. Klinoski, D.M. Daigle, C.R. Dean, K. Poole, MexEF-oprN multidrug efflux operon of *Pseudomonas aeruginosa*: regulation by the MexT activator in response to nitrosative stress and Chloramphenicol, Antimicrob. Agents Chemother. 55 (2011) 508–514.
- [101] W. Terán, A. Felipe, A. Segura, A. Rojas, J.-L. Ramos, M.-T. Gallegos, Antibioticdependent induction of *Pseudomonas putida* DOT-T1E TtgABC efflux pump is mediated by the drug binding repressor TtgR, Antimicrob. Agents Chemother. 47 (2003) 3067–3072.
- [102] G.W. Kaatz, C.E. DeMarco, S.M. Seo, MepR, a repressor of the *Staphylococcus aureus* MATE family multidrug efflux pump MepA, is a substrate-responsive regulatory protein, Antimicrob. Agents Chemother. 50 (2006) 1276–1281.
- [103] S. Grkovic, M.H. Brown, N.J. Roberts, I.T. Paulsen, R.A. Skurray, qacr is a repressor protein that regulates expression of the *Staphylococcus aureus* multidrug efflux pump QacA, J. Biol. Chem. 273 (1998) 18665–18673.
- [104] S. Grkovic, K.M. Hardie, M.H. Brown, R.A. Skurray, Interactions of the QacR multidrug-binding protein with structurally diverse ligands: implications for the evolution of the binding pocket, Biochemistry 42 (2003) 15226–15236.
- [105] R.G. Martin, W.K. Gillette, S. Rhee, J.L. Rosner, Structural requirements for marbox function in transcriptional activation of mar/sox/rob regulon promoters in *Escherichia coli*: sequence, orientation and spatial relationship to the core promoter, Mol. Microbiol. 34 (1999) 431–441.

- [106] M.C. Sulavik, L.F. Gambino, P.F. Miller, The MarR repressor of the multiple antibiotic resistance (mar) operon in *Escherichia coli*: prototypic member of a family of bacterial regulatory proteins involved in sensing phenolic compounds, Mol. Med. 1 (1995) 436–446.
- [107] R.G. Martin, J.L. Rosner, Binding of purified multiple antibiotic-resistance repressor protein (MarR) to mar operator sequences, Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. 92 (1995) 5456–5460.
- [108] M.N. Alekshun, S.B. Levy, T.R. Mealy, B.A. Seaton, J.F. Head, The crystal structure of MarR, a regulator of multiple antibiotic resistance, at 2.3 Å resolution, Nat. Struct. Mol. Biol. 8 (2001) 710–714.
- [109] E.Y. Rosenberg, D. Bertenthal, M.L. Nilles, K.P. Bertrand, H. Nikaido, Bile salts and fatty acids induce the expression of *Escherichia coli* AcrAB multidrug efflux pump through their interaction with Rob regulatory protein, Mol. Microbiol. 48 (2003) 1609–1619.
- [110] J.L. Rosner, B. Dangi, A.M. Gronenborn, R.G. Martin, Posttranscriptional activation of the transcriptional activator Rob by dipyridyl in *Escherichia coli*, J. Bacteriol. 184 (2002) 1407–1416.
- [111] D.G. White, J.D. Goldman, B. Demple, S.B. Levy, Role of the acrAB locus in organic solvent tolerance mediated by expression of marA, soxS, or robA in *Escherichia coli*, J. Bacteriol. 179 (1997) 6122–6126.
- [112] E. Nikaido, I. Shirosaka, A. Yamaguchi, K. Nishino, Regulation of the AcrAB multidrug efflux pump in *Salmonella enterica* serovar *Typhimurium* in response to indole and paraquat, Microbiology 157 (2011) 648–655.
- [113] H. Hirakawa, Y. Inazumi, T. Masaki, T. Hirata, A. Yamaguchi, Indole induces the expression of multidrug exporter genes in *Escherichia coli*, Mol. Microbiol. 55 (2005) 1113–1126.
- [114] E. Nikaido, A. Yamaguchi, K. Nishino, AcrAB multidrug efflux pump regulation in *Salmonella enterica* serovar *Typhimurium* by RamA in response to environmental signals, J. Biol. Chem. 283 (2008) 24245–24253.
- [115] Y.M. Abouzeed, S. Baucheron, A. Cloeckaert, RamR mutations involved in efflux-mediated multidrug resistance in *Salmonella enterica* serovar *Typhimurium*, Antimicrob. Agents Chemother. 52 (2008) 2428–2434.
- [116] N.N. Baranova, A. Danchin, A.A. Neyfakh, Mta, a global MerR-type regulator of the *Bacillus subtilis* multidrug-efflux transporters, Mol. Microbiol. 31 (1999) 1549–1559.
- [117] C. Rouquette, J.B. Harmon, W.M. Shafer, Induction of the mtrCDE-encoded efflux pump system of *Neisseria gonorrhoeae* requires MtrA, an AraC-like protein, Mol. Microbiol. 33 (1999) 651–658.
- [118] E.-H. Lee, C. Rouquette-Loughlin, J.P. Folster, W.M. Shafer, FarR regulates the farAB-encoded efflux pump of *Neisseria gonorrhoeae* via an MtrR regulatory mechanism, J. Bacteriol. 185 (2003) 7145–7152.
- [119] S. Hwang, Q. Zhang, S. Ryu, B. Jeon, Transcriptional regulation of the CmeABC multidrug efflux pump and the KatA catalase by CosR in *Campylobacter jejuni*, J. Bacteriol. 194 (2012) 6883–6891.
- [120] E.J. Capra, M.T. Laub, Evolution of two-component signal transduction systems, Annu. Rev. Microbiol. 66 (66) (2012) 325–347.
- [121] T. Mizuno, Compilation of all genes encoding two-component phosphotransfer signal transducers in the genome of *Escherichia coli*, DNA Res. 4 (1997) 161–168.
- [122] H. Hirakawa, K. Nishino, T. Hirata, A. Yamaguchi, Comprehensive studies of drug resistance mediated by overexpression of response regulators of twocomponent signal transduction systems in *Escherichia coli*, J. Bacteriol. 185 (2003) 1851–1856.
- [123] N. Baranova, H. Nikaido, The baeSR two-component regulatory system activates transcription of the yegMNOB (mdtABCD) transporter gene cluster in *Escherichia coli* and increases its resistance to novobiocin and deoxycholate, J. Bacteriol. 184 (2002) 4168–4176.
- [124] K. Nishino, A. Yamaguchi, Overexpression of the response RegulatorevgA of the two-component signal transduction system modulates multidrug resistance conferred by multidrug resistance transporters, J. Bacteriol. 183 (2001) 1455–1458.
- [125] K. Nishino, A. Yamaguchi, EvgA of the two-component signal transduction system modulates production of the yhiUV multidrug transporter in *Escherichia coli*, J. Bacteriol. 184 (2002) 2319–2323.
- [126] Z. Deng, Y. Shan, Q. Pan, X. Gao, A. Yan, Anaerobic expression of the gadEmdtEF multidrug efflux operon is primarily regulated by the two-component system ArcBA through antagonizing the H-NS mediated repression, Front. Microbiol. 4 (2013).
- [127] Y. Zhang, M. Xiao, T. Horiyama, Y. Zhang, X. Li, K. Nishino, A. Yan, The multidrug efflux pump MdtEF protects against nitrosative damage during the anaerobic respiration in *Escherichia coli*, J. Biol. Chem. 286 (2011) 26576–26584.
- [128] B.L. Bearson, L. Wilson, J.W. Foster, A low pH-Inducible, acid tolerance response protects Salmonella typhimurium against Inorganic acid stress, J. Bacteriol. 180 (1998) 2409–2417.
- [129] E.G. Véscovi, F.C. Soncini, E.A. Groisman, Mg²⁺ as an extracellular signal: environmental regulation of *Salmonella* virulence, Cell 84 (1996) 165–174.
- [130] K. Nishino, E. Nikaido, A. Yamaguchi, Regulation of multidrug efflux systems involved in multidrug and metal resistance of *Salmonella enterica* serovar *Typhimurium*, J. Bacteriol. 189 (2007) 9066–9075.
- [131] I. Marchand, L. Damier-Piolle, P. Courvalin, T. Lambert, Expression of the RND-type efflux pump AdeABC in *Acinetobacter baumannii* is regulated by the AdeRS two-component system, Antimicrob. Agents Chemother. 48 (2004) 3298–3304.
- [132] X.-Z. Li, L. Zhang, K. Poole, SmeC, an outer membrane multidrug efflux protein of *Stenotrophomonas maltophilia*, Antimicrob. Agents Chemother. 46 (2002) 333–343.

- [133] O. Lomovskaya, K.A. Bostian, Practical applications and feasibility of efflux pump inhibitors in the clinic – a vision for applied use, Biochem. Pharmacol. 71 (2006) 910–918.
- [134] C. Kourtesi, A.R. Ball, Y.-Y. Huang, S.M. Jachak, D.M.A. Vera, P. Khondkar, S. Gibbons, M.R. Hamblin, G.P. Tegos, Microbial efflux systems and inhibitors: approaches to drug discovery and the challenge of clinical implementation, Open Microbiol. J. 7 (2013) 34.
- [135] O. Lomovskaya, M.S. Warren, A. Lee, J. Galazzo, R. Fronko, M. Lee, J. Blais, D. Cho, S. Chamberland, T. Renau, Identification and characterization of inhibitors of multidrug resistance efflux pumps in *Pseudomonas aeruginosa*: novel agents for combination therapy, Antimicrob. Agents Chemother. 45 (2001) 105–116.
- [136] J.-M. Pagès, L. Amaral, Mechanisms of drug efflux and strategies to combat them: challenging the efflux pump of Gram-negative bacteria, Biochim. Biophys. Acta Proteins Proteomics 1794 (2009) 826–833.
- [137] K. Nakayama, Y. Ishida, M. Ohtsuka, H. Kawato, K.-I. Yoshida, Y. Yokomizo, S. Hosono, T. Ohta, K. Hoshino, H. Ishida, MexAB–OprM-specific efflux pump inhibitors in *Pseudomonas aeruginosa*. Part 1: discovery and early strategies for lead optimization, Bioorg. Med. Chem. Lett. 13 (2003) 4201–4204.
- [138] K. Nakayama, Y. Ishida, M. Ohtsuka, H. Kawato, K.-I. Yoshida, Y. Yokomizo, T. Ohta, K. Hoshino, T. Otani, Y. Kurosaka, MexAB–OprM specific efflux pump inhibitors in *Pseudomonas aeruginosa*. Part 2: achieving activity in vivo through the use of alternative scaffolds, Bioorg. Med. Chem. Lett. 13 (2003) 4205–4208.
- [139] K. Nakayama, H. Kawato, J. Watanabe, M. Ohtsuka, K.-I. Yoshida, Y. Yokomizo, A. Sakamoto, N. Kuru, T. Ohta, K. Hoshino, MexAB–OprM specific efflux pump inhibitors in *Pseudomonas aeruginosa*. Part 3: optimization of potency in the pyridopyrimidine series through the application of a pharmacophore model, Bioorg. Med. Chem. Lett. 14 (2004) 475–479.
- [140] K.-I. Yoshida, K. Nakayama, Y. Yokomizo, M. Ohtsuka, M. Takemura, K. Hoshino, H. Kanda, K. Namba, H. Nitanai, J.Z. Zhang, MexAB–OprM specific efflux pump inhibitors in *Pseudomonas aeruginosa*. Part 6: exploration of aromatic substituents, Bioorg. Med. Chem. 14 (2006) 8506–8518.
- [141] K.-I. Yoshida, K. Nakayama, M. Ohtsuka, N. Kuru, Y. Yokomizo, A. Sakamoto, M. Takemura, K. Hoshino, H. Kanda, H. Nitanai, MexAB–OprM specific efflux pump inhibitors in *Pseudomonas aeruginosa*. Part 7: highly soluble and in vivo active quaternary ammonium analogue D13-9001, a potential preclinical candidate, Bioorg, Med. Chem. 15 (2007) 7087–7097.
- [142] R. Nakashima, K. Sakurai, S. Yamasaki, K. Hayashi, C. Nagata, K. Hoshino, Y. Onodera, K. Nishino, A. Yamaguchi, Structural basis for the inhibition of bacterial multidrug exporters, Nature 500 (2013) 102–106.
- [143] A. Mahamoud, J. Chevalier, S. Alibert-Franco, W.V. Kern, J.-M. Pagès, Antibiotic efflux pumps in Gram-negative bacteria: the inhibitor response strategy, J. Antimicrob. Chemother. 59 (2007) 1223–1229.
- [144] M. Malléa, A. Mahamoud, J. Chevalier, S. Alibert-Franco, P. Brouant, J. Barbe, Alkylaminoquinolines inhibit the bacterial antibiotic efflux pump in multidrug-resistant clinical isolates, Biochem. J. 376 (2003) 801–805.
- [145] J. Chevalier, J. Bredin, A. Mahamoud, M. Malléa, J. Barbe, J.-M. Pagès, Inhibitors of antibiotic efflux in resistant *Enterobacter aerogenes* and *Klebsiella pneumoniae* strains, Antimicrob. Agents Chemother. 48 (2004) 1043–1046.
- [146] A. Thorarensen, A.L. Presley-Bodnar, K.R. Marotti, T.P. Boyle, C.L. Heckaman, M.J. Bohanon, P.K. Tomich, G.E. Zurenko, M.T. Sweeney, B.H. Yagi, 3-Arylpiperidines as potentiators of existing antibacterial agents, Bioorg. Med. Chem. Lett. 11 (2001) 1903–1906.
- [147] J.A. Bohnert, W.V. Kern, Selected arylpiperazines are capable of reversing multidrug resistance in *Escherichia coli* overexpressing RND efflux pumps, Antimicrob. Agents Chemother. 49 (2005) 849–852.
- [148] M.D. Lee, J.L. Galazzo, A.L. Staley, J.C. Lee, M.S. Warren, H. Fuernkranz, S. Chamberland, O. Lomovskaya, G.H. Miller, Microbial fermentation-derived inhibitors of efflux-pump-mediated drug resistance, IL Farmaco 56 (2001) 81–85.
- [149] R. Musumeci, A. Speciale, R. Costanzo, A. Annino, S. Ragusa, A. Rapisarda, M. Pappalardo, L. Iauk, *Berberis aetnensis* C. Presl. extracts: antimicrobial properties and interaction with ciprofloxacin, Int. J. Antimicrob. Agents 22 (2003) 48–53.
- [150] M. Stavri, LJ. Piddock, S. Gibbons, Bacterial efflux pump inhibitors from natural sources, J. Antimicrob. Chemother. 59 (2007) 1247–1260.
- [151] C. Morel, F.R. Stermitz, G. Tegos, K. Lewis, Isoflavones as potentiators of antibacterial activity, J. Agric. Food Chem. 51 (2003) 5677–5679.
- [152] G. Belofsky, R. Carreno, K. Lewis, A. Ball, G. Casadei, G.P. Tegos, Metabolites of the "smoke tree", *Staphylococcus aureus*, J. Nat. Prod. 69 (2006) 261–264.
- [153] V.S. Falcão-Silva, D.A. Silva, M.d.F.V. Souza, J.P. Siqueira-Junior, Modulation of drug resistance in *Staphylococcus aureus* by a kaempferol glycoside from *Herissantia tiubae* (Malvaceae), Phytother. Res. 23 (2009) 1367–1370.
- [154] W.-T. Peng, E.W. Nester, Characterization of a putative RND-type efflux system in Agrobacterium tumefaciens, Gene 270 (2001) 245–252.
- [155] R.A. Moore, D. DeShazer, S. Reckseidler, A. Weissman, D.E. Woods, Effluxmediated aminoglycoside and macrolide resistance in Burkholderia pseudomallei, Antimicrobial Agents and Chemotherapy 43 (1999) 465–470.

- [156] M. Ahmed, L. Lyass, P.N. Markham, S.S. Taylor, N. Vazquez-Laslop, A.A. Neyfakh, Two highly similar multidrug transporters of Bacillus subtilis whose expression is differentially regulated, Journal of bacteriology 177 (1995) 3904–3910.
- [157] D. Ma, M. Alberti, C. Lynch, H. Nikaido, J.E. Hearst, The local repressor AcrR plays a modulating role in the regulation of acrAB genes of Escherichia coli by global stress signals, Molecular Microbiology 19 (1996) 101–112.
- [158] H. Hirakawa, A. Takumi-Kobayashi, U. Theisen, T. Hirata, K. Nishino, A. Yamaguchi, AcrS/EnvR represses expression of the acrAB multidrug efflux genes in Escherichia coli, Journal of Bacteriology 190 (2008) 6276–6279.
- [159] K. Nishino, A. Yamaguchi, Role of histone-like protein H-NS in multidrug resistance of Escherichia coli, Journal of bacteriology 186 (2004) 1423–1429.
- [160] D.K.C. Fung, W.Y. Lau, W.T. Chan, A. Yan, Copper efflux is induced during anaerobic amino acid limitation in Escherichia coli to protect iron-sulfur cluster enzymes and biogenesis, Journal of Bacteriology 195 (2013) 4556– 4568.
- [161] A.K. Sayed, J.W. Foster, A 750 bp sensory integration region directs global control of the Escherichia coli GadE acid resistance regulator, Molecular Microbiology 71 (2009) 1435–1450.
- [162] K. Nishino, Y. Senda, A. Yamaguchi, The AraC-family regulator GadX enhances multidrug resistance in Escherichia coli by activating expression of mdtEF multidrug efflux genes, Journal of Infection and Chemotherapy 14 (2008) 23– 29.
- [163] K. Evans, L. Adewoye, K. Poole, MexR repressor of the mexAB-oprM multidrug efflux operon of Pseudomonas aeruginosa: Identification of MexR binding sites in the mexA-mexR intergenic region, Journal of Bacteriology 183 (2001) 807–812.
- [164] H. Chen, J. Hu, P.R. Chen, L. Lan, Z. Li, L.M. Hicks, A.R. Dinner, C. He, The Pseudomonas aeruginosa multidrug efflux regulator MexR uses an oxidationsensing mechanism, Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences 105 (2008) 13586–13591.
- [165] Y. Morita, L. Cao, V.C. Gould, M.B. Avison, K. Poole, nalD encodes a second repressor of the mexAB-oprM multidrug efflux operon of Pseudomonas aeruginosa, Journal of Bacteriology 188 (2006) 8649–8654.
- [166] S. Westbrock-Wadman, D.R. Sherman, M.J. Hickey, S.N. Coulter, Y.Q. Zhu, P. Warrener, L.Y. Nguyen, R.M. Shawar, K.R. Folger, C.K. Stover, Characterization of a Pseudomonas aeruginosa efflux pump contributing to aminoglycoside impermeability, Antimicrobial Agents and Chemotherapy 43 (1999) 2975–2983.
- [167] Y. Matsuo, S. Eda, N. Gotoh, E. Yoshihara, T. Nakae, MexZ-mediated regulation of mexXY multidrug efflux pump expression in *Pseudomonas aeruginosa* by binding on the *mexZ-mexX* intergenic DNA, FEMS Microbiology Letters 238 (2004) 23–28.
- [168] N. Masuda, E. Sakagawa, S. Ohya, N. Gotoh, H. Tsujimoto, T. Nishino, Contribution of the MexX-MexY-OprM efflux system to intrinsic resistance in *Pseudomonas aeruginosa*, Antimicrobial Agents and Chemotherapy 44 (2000) 2242–2246.
- [169] J. Kieboom, J.A.M. de Bont, Identification and molecular characterization of an efflux system involved in *Pseudomonas putida* S12 multidrug resistance, Microbiology 147 (2001) 43–51.
- [170] X. Sun, Z. Zahir, K.H. Lynch, J.J. Dennis, An antirepressor, SrpR, is involved in transcriptional regulation of the SrpABC solvent tolerance efflux pump of Pseudomonas putida S12, Journal of Bacteriology 193 (2011) 2717–2725.
- [171] W. Terán, A. Felipe, S. Fillet, M.-E. Guazzaroni, T. Krell, R. Ruiz, J.L. Ramos, M.-T. Gallegos, Complexity in efflux pump control: cross-regulation by the paralogues TtgV and TtgT, Molecular Microbiology 66 (2007) 1416–1428.
- [172] A. Rojas, A. Segura, M.E. Guazzaroni, W. Terán, A. Hurtado, M.T. Gallegos, J.L. Ramos, *In vivo* and *in vitro* evidence that TtgV is the specific regulator of the TtgGHI multidrug and solvent efflux pump of *Pseudomonas putida*, Journal of Bacteriology 185 (2003) 4755–4763.
- [173] A. Olliver, M. Vallé, E. Chaslus-Dancla, A. Cloeckaert, Role of an acrR mutation in multidrug resistance of *in vitro*-selected fluoroquinolone-resistant mutants of *Salmonella* enterica serovar Typhimurium, FEMS microbiology letters 238 (2004) 267–272.
- [174] D.J. Eaves, V. Ricci, L.J. Piddock, Expression of *acrB*, *acrF*, *acrD*, *marA*, and *soxS* in *Salmonella enterica* serovar Typhimurium: role in multiple antibiotic resistance, Antimicrobial agents and chemotherapy 48 (2004) 1145–1150.
- [175] A. Olliver, M. Vallé, E. Chaslus-Dancla, A. Cloeckaert, Overexpression of the multidrug efflux operon *acrEF* by insertional activation with IS1 or IS10 elements in Salmonella enterica serovar Typhimurium DT204 *acrB* mutants selected with fluoroquinolones, Antimicrobial agents and chemotherapy 49 (2005) 289–301.
- [176] P. Sánchez, A. Alonso, J.L. Martinez, Cloning and characterization of SmeT, a repressor of the Stenotrophomonas maltophilia multidrug efflux pump SmeDEF, Antimicrobial Agents and Chemotherapy 46 (2002) 3386–3393.
- [177] A. Hernández, F.M. Ruiz, A. Romero, J.L. Martínez, The binding of triclosan to SmeT, the repressor of the multidrug efflux pump SmeDEF, induces antibiotic resistance in Stenotrophomonas maltophilia, PLoS pathogens 7 (2011) e1002103.